

SECURITY COUNCIL REPORT CROSS-CUTTING REPORT

2010 NO.2 1 October 2010

This report is available online and can be viewed together with Monthly Forecast Reports and Update Reports at www.securitycouncilreport.org



Women Peace and Security

This is Security Council Report's first *Cross-Cutting Report on Women, Peace and Security* and is being published as a resource in the lead-up to the debate in the Security Council in October 2010 on the tenth anniversary of resolution 1325. This is the third series of thematic cross-cutting reports published by SCR. The others are Children and Armed Conflict and Protection of Civilians.

The thematic issue of women, peace and security has been on the Security Council agenda for ten years. This report examines: the events in 2000 that led the Council to adopt its first resolution on this topic; the framework created by the Council to address this issue; the extent to which the Council has addressed these issues in the country situations on its agenda; the international legal framework in which this issue falls; the Council's changing dynamics on this issue over the past ten years; and future issues and options.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Introduction2
- 2. Historical Context......3
- 3. Women, Peace and Security: the Normative Framework7
- 4. Cross-Cutting Analysis: Resolutions......11
- 5. Cross-Cutting Analysis: Presidential Statements14
- 6. Cross-Cutting Analysis: Mission Mandates......15

- 9. Cross-Cutting Analysis: Security Council Visiting Missions......21
- 10. Security Council Engagement with Stakeholders21
 10.1 Secretary-General21
 10.2 Security Council Debates...23
 10.3 Arria-Formula Briefings24
 - 10.4 Peacebuilding Commission24
- 12.3 Referrals to the ICC......29 13. DRC Case Study:
 - An Opportunity for Action?.... 29
- 14. Council Dynamics32 14.1 Past Dynamic32

- 17. Selected UN Documents37
- 18. Useful Additional Resources..41

- Annexes41

 - II: Breakdown of Peace Operation
 - Mandates into Components of Resolution 1325......46

1. Introduction

There is now very wide acceptance of the fact that modern armed conflict has a disproportionate impact on women and girls even though most are not directly engaged in combat. The significance of Security Council resolution 1325—adopted in October 2000—lies in the way it links the impact of war and conflict on women on the one hand and also promotes their participation in various peace and security processes such as in peace negotiations, constitutional and electoral reforms and reconstruction and reintegration on the other.

The Council's decision to take up women, peace and security as a separate thematic topic flowed out of the Council's broader thematic agenda. In the twelve months prior to resolution 1325, the Council had adopted its first resolutions on protection of civilians and children and armed conflict. This thematic examination was taking place after a bloody decade of peacekeeping failures, such as in Somalia, Rwanda and the former Yugoslavia. As part of the examination of the broader atrocities committed, it became clear that, in Rwanda and Bosnia in particular, significant attacks had occurred specifically targeting women, including reports of systematic sexual violence.

Concerned about this pattern of gender-based violence, Council members in resolution 1325 agreed that it was important, in the future, to ensure that women's needs, and therefore their views, were taken into account in the planning and execution of all aspects of conflict prevention, peace processes, peacekeeping operations and postconflict recovery on the assumption that women had a critically important contribution to make regarding how peace could be achieved and maintained. Put simply, by involving and taking into account the views of half of society a negotiated peace was more likely to be able to be implemented by that society.

Resolution 1325 laid out a normative framework. Furthermore, it asked the Secretary-General to carry out a study on the impact of armed conflict on women and girls, the role of women in peacebuilding and the gender dimensions of peace processes and conflict resolution and to report to the Council.

Resolution 1325 also recognised that women were combatants in many conflicts, and were also a significant part of the support systems to armed groups, and must be paid special attention in demobilisation and reintegration programs. It also highlighted the obligations under international law of parties to conflict to protect women in armed conflict. This aspect was considerably strengthened by subsequent resolution 1820 (2008), in which the Council recognised that systematic sexual violence can significantly exacerbate situations of armed conflict and may impede the restoration of international peace and security. Resolution 1888 (2009) followed up this conclusion and requested the Secretary-General to appoint a Special Representative of the Secretary-General on Sexual Violence in Conflict. Margot Wallström of Sweden was appointed to this position on 2 February 2010.



Resolution 1325 made some very practical recommendations to the Secretariat and member states:

- to increase the number of female peacekeepers; and
- to increase the number of women leaders dealing with issues of peace and security both in national governments and the UN system.

The Council made these recommendations believing that increasing the numbers of women in these functions would improve prospects for peace by: empowering women in conflict through positive female role models; changing the relationship between traumatised civilians and security services by putting a female face on authority; and by offering an alternative perspective in providing solutions to conflict situations.

The normative framework created by resolution 1325 has guided work on gender 'mainstreaming' policies (in practical terms taking into account women's needs and views across a broad spectrum of functions and projects in which the UN is engaged) across the UN system and has thrown a spotlight on issues preventing gender equality within UN agencies.

It also called attention to the Secretary-General's action plan to have gender equality in the Secretariat by 2000.

The framework also prompted the Council to continue taking up the thematic issue of women, peace and security in the ten years since. In the last three years it adopted three further resolutions on this subject (resolutions 1820, 1888 as well as 1889 which focused on the importance of women's involvement in post-conflict recovery). In 2010 alone, the Council was expecting five different reports from the Secretary-General stemming from resolutions 1888 and 1889.

Finally, the tenth anniversary of 1325 will be recognised by a ministerial-level open debate of the Security Council in October.

This report demonstrates that during the past decade, the Security Council has attempted to address in a crosscutting way the issues facing women in conflict (as laid out in resolution 1325) in its consideration of country-specific situations. It has managed to succeed in achieving this in many country situations. But its approach has not been fully systematic. The Council appears to have been considerably more successful in addressing the protection rather than the participation aspects of resolution 1325.

It appears that addressing the impact of conflict on women in specific mandates relies largely on the efforts of a few Council members or individuals within the Secretariat.

Over the years, the Council has lacked consistent, high-level leadership on this issue. Responsibility to mainstream the issue across the broader Council agenda often falls upon junior officers who cover gender issues in their portfolio in the General Assembly. Many come into the Council delegation just to discuss this issue and therefore have little experience in negotiation in the Council context or the country-specific situations. Accordingly, a mainstreaming or cross-cutting methodology is often absent from the delegations.

The changing composition of the Council has also significantly affected the Council's approach to this issue. Elected members have tended to have a strong influence on Council dynamics. At press time, negotiations were underway in the Council, ahead of the open debate in October, on an outcome for October. These are focused on the role of the Council in the implementation of resolution 1325 and ways to improve Council working methods in its consideration of women and peace and security across the Council agenda.

2. Historical Context

2000: Resolution 1325

Given that ten years have passed since its negotiation and adoption it is worthwhile to recall how and why the Council came to adopt resolution 1325 in the first place.

An important predecessor was the Fourth World Conference on Women in Beijing in 1995, which adopted a Platform for Action which identified the importance of increased participation of women in conflict resolution. This was reiterated in the 23rd Special Session of the UN General Assembly: 'Women 2000: Gender Equality, development and peace', in June 2000, when the results of the review process of the Platform for Action (Beijing+5) were deliberated. While particular attention was paid to women as victims of armed conflict, mention was also made of the under representation of women in decision making positions related to peacekeeping, peacebuilding and post-conflict reconciliation, as well as lack of gender awareness in these areas.

Resolution 1325 came forward in this wider context. It was landmark because for the first time the UN organ with primary responsibility for the maintenance of international peace and security—the Security Council—was considering the importance of women's role in peace and security.

At the time, there was doubt by some members of the Council about embracing these issues. The eventual adoption of resolution 1325 can be attributed to several factors. In particular the efforts, determination and personal conviction of several individuals serving on the Council at the time: the permanent Bangladesh, representatives of Namibia, Canada, Jamaica and Mali; as well as the influence of women's NGOs carrying forward the Beijing Platform for Action; all working within an environment of assessment of the UN's overall approach to peace operations.

Bangladesh came onto the Security Council in January 2000 and was due to hold its presidency in March 2000. Its Ambassador Anwarul Chowdhury was convinced that gender equality was an important key to peace and proposed that the Council should adopt a resolution on the issue whilst Bangladesh had the presidency. He started negotiations within the Council in January but encountered resistance from some Council members, particularly from the P5, at introducing what was considered a 'soft' topic onto the agenda of the Council. This came at a time when the Council was hesitantly beginning to develop a number of thematic agenda items. The first related to Protection of Civilians (resolutions 1265 and 1296) and secondly Children and Armed Conflict (resolutions 1261 and 1314).

Bangladesh was unable to get Council support for a resolution or a presidential statement in March, but succeeded in getting members of the Council to agree to a press statement to be issued on the occasion of International Women's Day, 8 March 2000. The draft press statement, despite its less formal status, was carefully negotiated by the Council. Some members continued to have strong reservations.

The eventual press statement (SC/6816) highlighted the importance of women's full participation in power structures and the role of women in preserving social order and as peace educators and touches upon several of the elements that would eventually form resolution 1325: full participation of women in all efforts for the prevention and resolution of conflicts, the particular effect of armed conflict on women and girls, awareness of gender-specific human rights abuses, protection for refugee and displaced women, and the importance of a visible policy of mainstreaming a gender perspective in policies and programmes while addressing armed or other conflicts.

Chowdhury subsequently briefed the Commission on the Status of Women (CSW) which was in session at the time. While the response was largely positive, some delegates criticised the Council for encroaching on the mandate of the General Assembly, in particular the CSW.

In March 2000 the Council also began to incorporate elements relating to women, peace and security in its wider thematic work and in particular in two presidential statements adopted during the Bangladeshi March 2000 presidency. The first on 'Maintaining peace and security: Humanitarian aspects of issues before the Security Council' (S/ PRST/2000/7) 'notes the importance of adequate training for peacekeeping personnel in international humanitarian law and human rights and with regard to the special situations of women and children as well as vulnerable population groups'. The second on 'Maintenance of peace and security and post-conflict peace-building'

(S/PRST/2000/10) 'stresses the importance of addressing, in particular, the needs of women ex-combatants, notes the role of women in conflict resolution and peace-building and requests the Secretary-General to take that into account'.

These were the first instances when language of this nature appeared in Security Council decisions and were promoted by Bangladesh with support from other elected members, in particular Canada, Mali, Jamaica and Namibia.

Canada gave prominence to the issue during its presidency in April 2000. Angela King, the Assistant Secretary-General and Special Adviser on Gender Issues and the Advancement of Women, was invited to address the Council during its debate on Afghanistan to discuss and answer questions about the situation facing Afghan women and children under the Taliban. (King was one of the first women ever appointed as a Special Representative and led the UN's monitoring mission in South Africa, UNOMSA in 1992-94; she had also led the Inter-Agency Gender Mission to Afghanistan in November 1997, the first of its kind to assess the impact of conflict on women in a particular country situation.)

Jamaica during its presidency in July, proposed that the draft resolution on Children and Armed Conflict should include language on the special needs and particular vulnerabilities of girls affected by armed conflict. (It was introduced on the last day of Jamaica's presidency and adopted on 11 August 2000 as resolution 1314). Jamaica also convened an open debate on the role of the Council in the prevention of armed conflict, chaired by the country's foreign minister and the outcome



document, a presidential statement (S/PRST/2000/25), recognised 'the important role of women in the prevention and resolution of conflicts and in peace-building'. It also stressed 'the importance of their increased participation in all aspects of the conflict prevention and resolution process'.

Namibia also gave prominence to the issue in 2000, taking the lead in cooperating with the Lessons Learned Unit of the UN Department of Peacekeeping Operations (DPKO) and helping develop the Secretariat's report Mainstreaming a Gender Perspective in Multidimensional Peace Operations. Namibia co-hosted with the UN a seminar in May that led to the Windhoek Declaration and the Namibia Plan of Action on 'Mainstreaming a Gender Perspective in Multidimensional Peace Support Operations' (S/2000/693). Namibia also chaired the 23rd Special Session (Beijing+5) of the General Assembly in June 2000 and was well-versed in the issues. In October, Namibia held the presidency of the Council and led negotiations on a draft resolution. It hosted an Arria-formula meeting on 23 October for members of the Council to meet relevant NGOs. An open debate followed in the Council on 24-25 October. Twenty-three non-Council members participated in this debate. The sustained attention given to the issue by Bangladesh and Namibia along with Canada and Jamaica built momentum throughout 2000 that led to the unanimous adoption of resolution 1325 on 31 October 2000.

In addition to its permanent members, the Council at that time included Argentina, Bangladesh, Canada, Jamaica, Malaysia, Mali, Namibia, the Netherlands, Tunisia and Ukraine. Only Jamaica had a female permanent representative.

The efforts within the Council came against a backdrop of wider efforts by the UN system to consider the question of how and whether to address the gender dimension in peace operations. DPKO had been considering related issues since late 1998, when its Lessons Learned Unit was tasked to prepare the July 2000 report prepared with Namibia (mentioned above). The increasingly multidimensional nature of peacekeeping operations that had been mandated since the late 1980s, and in particular during the 1990s, had led to reflection on the nature of peacekeeping's role, and how best to mandate the necessary tasks to avert failures of the kind that had occurred in the 1990s. Peacekeeping missions were no longer traditional operations to monitor ceasefires or the implementation of peace agreements and increasingly had a range of components that included in addition to a military contingent, civilian police, political affairs, rule of law, human rights, humanitarian, reconstruction and public information elements.

In May 2000, an NGO Working Group on Women, Peace and Security was formed (combining 14 separate civil society groups) with the goal of advocating for the Security Council to adopt a resolution on the issue. The NGO Working Group conducted advocacy to inform Council members of the relevance of the issue to the work of the Council, maintain pressure, help willing members build momentum and provide guidance to Council members on the eventual drafting of the resolution.

2001-2007

Starting in 2001, the Council met on each anniversary of the adoption of resolution 1325. This usually resulted in a presidential statement reaffirming the Council's commitment or highlighting a particular aspect of gender considerations in peace operations. Each of these statements slightly refined the emerging normative framework on women, peace and security.

Attention by the Council outside of the 'anniversary' debates was rare and usually the result of particular Council members seeking to draw attention to the issue. For example, on 25 July 2002 the UK presidency held a debate where Council members interacted with other UN member states and a Secretariat panel (comprised of Angela King and the heads of the UN Development Fund for Women, or UNIFEM, and DPKO) on the topic of conflict, peacekeeping and gender. During the debate Council members alternated speaking with non-Council members and at any time the Secretariat panel could ask questions of Council or non-Council member states and vice versa. Angela King presented the preliminary results from the Secretary-General's study on the impact of conflict on women (requested in resolution 1325).

Another innovation was in March 2007 when South Africa also broke out of the 'anniversary' pattern proposing a debate on the occasion of International Women's Day during its presidency. It successfully pushed for the adoption of a presidential statement. This was the first time the Council had spoken on International Women's Day since 2000.

2008: Resolution 1820 on Sexual Violence in Conflict

In the jurisprudence that came out of the International Criminal Tribunals for the Former Yugoslavia and Rwanda, it emerged that sexual violence had been a specific tactic of war and had been recognised as a constituent act of genocide. It was recognised that even if women survived the level of sexual violence inflicted upon them, and assuming they were able to reproduce after the attack (or repeated attacks) and assuming they were not pregnant with the perpetrator's baby, the psychological damage to the individual can be irreparable and the social stigma within families and communities insurmountable. In short, combatants had recognised that systematic sexual violence was an effective tool to destroy a community-either of a rival ethnic group or in retaliation for cooperating with their foe. In 2008 the Council. responding to the jurisprudence, also formally recognised the dangers this development presented to international peace and security.

This was preceded in the General Assembly in 2007 when the US led negotiations on 'Eliminating rape and other forms of sexual violence in all their manifestations, including in conflict and related situations'. The resolution was adopted by consensus (A/RES/62/134), but did not include the stronger language on the use rape in armed conflict that many of its sponsors had hoped.

In the spring of 2008 advocates persuaded key ambassadors to view a documentary film called *The Greatest Silence—Rape in the Congo*. The film followed a victim of gang rape as she spoke to victims of sexual violence at the hands of foreign militias and the Congolese army in eastern Congo.

The US proposed during its presidency of the Council in June 2008 to take the key elements related to rape and sexual violence in conflict situations in the General Assembly resolution into a new Council resolution on women, peace and security focused on the use of sexual violence in armed conflict as a weapon or tactic of warfare.

There was initially resistance in the Council to a new resolution on women, peace and security, including from key advocates of resolution 1325. Some considered that a new resolution that iust focused on sexual violence would dilute the wider focus of the landmark 1325, which had not ignored this issue (it was mentioned in operative paragraphs 10 and 11). There was particular concern the draft would weaken support for women's increased participation in leadership positions in resolution 1325, as it highlighted women's vulnerability (or weakness). Others in the Council assessed that singling out sexual violence in conflict was unhelpful, given the range of other forms of violence specifically perpetrated against women during periods of conflict-such as murder and maiming.

However events on the ground in the DRC played an important role in shifting Council dynamics on this issue. Evidence of widespread, systematic, brutal and highly publicised sexual violence perpetrated against the women of the eastern DRC increased support in the Council for the US initiative.

On 19 June 2008 US Secretary of State Condoleezza Rice, chaired an open debate of the Security Council, after which the Council unanimously adopted resolution 1820. For the first time the Security Council identified sexual violence when used or commissioned as a tactic of war in order to deliberately target civilian populations or as part of a widespread or systematic attack against civilian populations as an impediment to international peace and security. The elected members of the Council at the time were: Belgium, Burkina Faso, Costa Rica, Croatia, Indonesia, Italy, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Panama, South Africa and Viet Nam. No Council member had a female permanent representative.

2009: Resolutions 1888 and 1889

On 30 September 2009 US Secretary of State Hillary Clinton chaired a meeting on sexual violence in armed conflict, as a follow up to resolution 1820. The meeting was public, but only Council members could speak. At this meeting the Council adopted resolution 1888, which recommended the Secretary-General appoint a special representative to implement resolution 1820.

One week later the Council took up the wider resolution 1325 agenda on 5 October 2009. Viet Nam's Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of Foreign Affairs Pham Gia Khiem presided over an open debate on women, peace and security. The Council adopted resolution 1889 which called upon the Secretary-General to submit to the Security Council a set of indicators for use at the global level to track implementation of resolution 1325. The Secretary-General submitted a preliminary set in April 2010, with a revised set expected in September 2010. (The Council is expected to take action on the indicators in October 2010.)

Resolution 1889 had a slightly complicated origin. Viet Nam had signalled early on its intentions to propose a resolution on women, peace and security during its presidency in October 2009, on the importance of women's involvement in post-conflict recovery. Viet Nam wanted to draw upon the lessons it had learned emerging from conflict and highlight the



importance of women's education and other development issues. There was some resistance to such direct references to economic and social dimensions. There was also procedural resistance to adopting a second resolution so soon after resolution 1888. Some thought a presidential statement highlighting the importance of the upcoming tenth anniversary of resolution 1325 would be sufficient. Viet Nam was firm about a resolution. After detailed negotiations a draft resolution was agreed highlighting women's role in post-conflict peacebuilding efforts and the impediments to women's involvement and seeking, in addition to the indicators, a report from the Secretary-General on women in peacebuilding, to be drafted in coordination with the Peacebuilding Support Office (PBSO).

3. Women, Peace and Security: the Normative Framework

During the last decade the Council has established a wide normative framework under the theme of women, peace and security through its four resolutions and nine presidential statements. This framework now forms the mandate that directs Secretariat action on this issue, guides the Security Council approach, provides guidance and precedent for broader UN member state action on and consideration of the issue and establishes a set of generally accepted principles for handling the matter.

It is worthwhile to analyse this normative framework through a closer look at resolutions 1325, 1820 and the associated resolutions and presidential statements, prior to embarking on an analysis of how effectively the Council has incorporated this issue into its working methods and practice when considering country-specific and other thematic decisions. (See Annex I for a detailed analysis of the text of resolutions 1325 and 1820.)

Resolution 1325

There are essentially six sections in resolution 1325.

The first section (operative paragraphs 1-4) deals with increasing women's participation in decision-making on the prevention, management and resolution of conflict: in national, regional and international institutions and in the UN system. It also urges an increase in the number of women appointed as special representatives and envoys to pursue good offices functions on behalf of the Secretary-General and in UN fieldbased operations, especially among military observers, civilian police, human rights and humanitarian personnel.

The second section of resolution 1325 (operative paragraphs 6-7) addresses capacity issues by focusing on developing guidelines and materials to train military, police and civilian personnel deploying with UN peace operations regarding the importance of involving women in all peacekeeping and peacebuilding activities, as well as on the protection, rights and particular needs of women; and increasing financial, technical and logistical support for gender-sensitive training.

The third section (operative paragraph 8) goes into detail on the specific areas where gender should be considered with respect to negotiating and implementing peace agreements: the special needs of women and girls during repatriation and resettlement and for rehabilitation, reintegration and postconflict reconstruction; measures that support local women's peace initiatives and indigenous processes for conflict resolution and measures that involve women in all of the implementation mechanisms of the peace agreements; and measures that ensure the protection and respect for human rights of women and girls, particularly as they relate to the constitution, the electoral system, the police and the judiciary.

The fourth section (operative paragraphs 9-11) focuses on the international legal framework relevant to the protection of women and girls as civilians, calling on all parties to armed conflict to: respect fully international law in this regard including their obligations under the Geneva Conventions, the Convention related to the Status of Refugees, Convention on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW), Convention on the Rights of the Child and the relevant provisions of the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court (ICC); take special measures to protect women and girls from gender-based violence, particularly rape and other forms of sexual abuse, and all other forms of violence in situations of armed conflict; and goes on to emphasise the responsibility of all states to put an end to impunity and prosecute those responsible for genocide, crimes against humanity and war crimes, including those relating to sexual and other violence against women and girls and stresses the need to exclude these crimes, where feasible, from amnesty provisions.

The fifth section (operative paragraphs 12-13) outlines two practical areas for action on gender issues: respecting the humanitarian nature of refugee and internally displaced persons (IDP) camps, taking into account the particular needs of women and girls in camp

design; and the different needs of women ex-combatants and the needs of their dependants when planning DDR programmes.

Finally in the sixth section resolution 1325 commits the Council to using guidelines for its approach to gender issues across the broader Council agenda. In particular, the Council expresses its willingness to:

- incorporate a gender perspective into peacekeeping operations (operative paragraph 5);
- ensure that Council visiting missions take into account gender considerations and the rights of women, including through consultation with local and international women's groups (operative paragraph 15); and
- take into account, whenever sanctions are adopted under article 41 of the Charter, their potential impact on the civilian population, bearing in mind the special needs of women and girls, in order to consider appropriate humanitarian exemptions (operative paragraph 14).

It has become shorthand when referring to the content of resolution 1325 to say that it covers women's participation and protection in situations of armed conflict. While this is the resolution's main thrust, its scope is more complex than just participation and protection. Some issues, such as the demobilisation of female combatants or women voluntarily or involuntarily associated with armed groups, can fall into both (or neither) categories depending on the context. Generally, resolution 1325 is balanced between increasing women's participation in all aspects of action and decision-making relevant to peace and security, and highlighting women's rights and the importance of protecting

women as a vulnerable subset of broader protection of civilian considerations.

Presidential Statements on Women, Peace and Security

Prior to the adoption of resolution 1820 in 2008, the scope of the resolution 1325 framework was supplemented by seven presidential statements. Most language in the presidential statements reiterated aspects of resolution 1325 or acknowledged particular achievements of women's participation or gender mainstreaming within the UN system. Some elements were procedural requesting new reports from the Secretary-General on the implementation of resolution 1325 (including outlining obstacles to increased participation of women in conflict prevention, conflict resolution and peacebuilding) or on the impact of armed conflict on women. In contrast to earlier years, the latest requests for information on the impact of armed conflict on women were restricted to situations on the agenda of the Security Council (2007 and 2008).

Some presidential statements made small additions to the normative framework, including (in 2002) a condemnation of all violations of the human rights of women and girls in situations of armed conflict, and the use of sexual violence, including as a strategic and tactical weapon of war. This was a significant step further than resolution 1325 and a concept taken up directly by resolution 1820.

Specific additional requests to the Secretary-General included:

 (in 2002) integrate gender perspectives into all standard operating procedures, manuals and other guidance material for peacekeeping operations; and include gender specialists in the teams of Council visiting missions where relevant;

- (in 2004) ensure that human rights monitors and members of commissions of inquiry have the necessary expertise and training in genderbased crimes and in the conduct of investigations, including in a culturally sensitive manner favourable to victims; consider appointing a senior gender adviser within the Department of Political Affairs (DPA); ensure all policies and programmes in support of post-conflict constitutional, judicial and legislative reform, including truth and reconciliation and electoral processes, promote the full participation of women, gender equality and women's human rights;
- (in 2005) ensure that all peace accords concluded with UN assistance address the specific effects of armed conflict on women and girls, as well as their specific needs and priorities in the post-conflict context, underlining in this context the importance of broad and inclusive consultation with civil society in particular women's organisations and groups; and
- (in 2006) collect and compile good practices, lessons learned and identify remaining gaps and challenges in order to further promote the efficient and effective implementation of resolution 1325, in the context of increasing women's participation in decision-making.

Broader requests by the Council addressed to the international community as a whole included:

 (in 2002) encouraging relevant actors to include gender perspectives in humanitarian operations, rehabilitation and reconstruction programmes, and also to develop targeted activities, focused on the specific



constraints facing women and girls in post-conflict situations, such as their lack of land and property rights and access to and control over economic resources;

- (in 2004) urging all international and national courts specifically established to prosecute war-related crimes to provide gender expertise, gender training for all staff and gender-sensitive programmes for victims and witness protection;
- (in 2007) emphasising the importance of strengthening cooperation between member states and between the UN and regional organisations in adopting and promoting regional approaches to implementing 1325.

Resolution 1820

The concepts of resolution 1820 derive from, and significantly elaborate upon, the Council's previous decisions on protection of civilians, as well as the more limited protection aspects included in resolution 1325.

There were several elements in resolution 1820 that break new ground for a Council resolution. In it, the Security Council:

- concluded that sexual violence when used or commissioned as a tactic of war in order to deliberately target civilian populations or as part of a widespread or systematic attack against civilian populations may impede the restoration of international peace and security;
- demanded the cessation by all parties to armed conflict of acts of sexual violence against civilians; and
- affirmed its intention (which it had already expressed in two specific cases—the DRC and Côte d'Ivoire) when establishing and renewing state-specific sanctions regimes, to

consider targeted sanctions and other graduated measures against parties to situations of armed conflict who commit rape and other forms of sexual violence against women and girls in situations of armed conflict.

Resolution 1820 also considerably expanded upon the legal dimensions addressed by resolution 1325 in several ways. It listed the possible measures parties could take to protect women and children from sexual violence; reinforced measures ending impunity. It noted that rape and other forms of sexual violence can constitute a war crime, a crime against humanity or a constitutive act with respect to genocide. It also reinforced the capacity components of resolution 1325, in particular the need to develop and deliver training for peacekeeping and humanitarian personnel deployed by the UN to better prevent, recognise and respond to sexual violence and other forms of violence against civilians.

While resolution 1820 included some mention of women's involvement in peace processes it was in the context of addressing sexual violence that occurred during the conflict in question. Likewise, women's involvement in post-conflict peacebuilding efforts was addressed in the context of protection of women in IDP camps, throughout demobilisation and reintegration programmes and in justice and security sector reform and addressing the longterm consequences of sexual violence in rebuilding society.

Resolution 1888

Resolution 1888 builds on resolution 1820. Over half of its operative paragraphs directly reinforce previous language from resolution 1820, some of which was in turn drawn from resolution 1325. The key new elements of resolution 1888 were a range of measures to develop capacity to staff the implementation of resolution 1820. These included:

- a request for the Secretary-General to appoint a Special Representative on sexual violence in conflict;
- a request to deploy rapidly a team of experts to situations of particular concern with respect to sexual violence in armed conflict;
- a decision to include specific provisions in peacekeeping mandates, as appropriate, for the protection of women and children from rape and other sexual violence, including the identification of women's protection advisers among the gender adviser and human rights protection units in peacekeeping missions.

Resolution 1888 also stated that the Council would review the mandates of the Special Representative and the team of experts within two years, taking into account the establishment of the new UN gender entity (UN Women) in 2011.

Other new elements included: urging states to undertake comprehensive legal and judicial reforms with a view to bringing perpetrators of sexual violence in conflict to justice and ensuring appropriate treatment of survivors of sexual violence; urging parties to a conflict to ensure that all reports of sexual violence committed by civilians or by military personnel are thoroughly investigated and civilian superiors and military commanders use their authority and power to prevent sexual violence; encouraging states to increase access to the necessary support services for victims of sexual violence; encouraging local and national leaders, including traditional and religious leaders, to play

a more active role in sensitising communities on sexual violence to avoid marginalisation and stigmatisation of victims; urging Special Representatives and the Emergency Relief Coordinator of the Secretary-General to work with member states to develop joint government-UN comprehensive strategies to combat sexual violence; and encouraging increased briefings and documentation on sexual violence in armed conflict to the Council.

Resolution 1888 also requested the Secretary-General to devise urgently and preferably within three months, specific proposals on ways to ensure monitoring and reporting in a more effective and efficient way within the existing UN system on the protection of women and children from rape and other sexual violence in armed conflict and post-conflict situations. (At press time it was unclear what formal action the Secretary-General had taken on this request, beyond the appointment of Special Representative for Sexual Violence in Conflict, Margot Wallström, on 2 February 2010.)

Further to the above request, the Council also requested a report from the Secretary-General on implementation of resolutions 1820 and 1888 by September 2010. The Secretary-General sought an extension of the deadline for the submission of this report, and it is now due to the Council in December 2010.

Resolution 1889

Resolution 1889 focused on the question of how to implement a key feature of resolution 1325, i.e. the increased participation of women in negotiating and implementing peace processes and in other aspects of post-conflict peacebuilding, by identifying obstacles to their full participation and seeking to address those obstacles. Resolution 1889 also looked toward the tenth anniversary of 1325 in 2010 as an opportunity to renew commitments to its implementation.

The bulk of resolution 1889 reinforced key elements and language of resolution 1325.

In resolution 1889 for the first time the Council urged Member States, UN bodies, donors and civil society:

- to ensure women's empowerment is taken into account during postconflict needs assessments and planning, and factored into subsequent funding disbursements and programme activities;
- to take all feasible measures to ensure women and girls' equal access to education, given the vital role of education in the promotion of women's participation in post-conflict decision making; and
- requested the Secretary-General to ensure full cooperation and coordination between the Special Representative for Children and Armed Conflict and the Special Representative for Sexual Violence in Conflict.

Resolution 1889 also requested three separate reports from the Secretary-General. **The first request** was for a set of indicators for use at the global level to track implementation of resolution 1325, which could serve as a common basis for reporting by relevant UN entities, other international and regional organisations and member states. (A preliminary set of 26 indicators was submitted to the Council in April 2010. The Council decided in a presidential statement that same month that these indicators needed increased technical and conceptual development and requested the Secretary-General to continue to work with the Security Council on them and to consult with the broader UN membership with a view to submitting a revised set in September 2010. The Council expressed its intention to take action on the indicators in October 2010.)

The second request in resolution 1889 was for the Secretary-General's report on the implementation of the 2008-2009 UN System-Wide Action Plan on the implementation of resolution 1325 (requested by the Council in 2007, due in September 2010) to include an assessment of the processes by which the Security Council receives, analyses and takes action on information pertinent to resolution 1325, recommendations on further measures to improve coordination across the UN system, and with member states and civil society to deliver implementation, and data on women's participation in UN missions. (It is expected that this report will also include the revised indicators referred to above and come out in September 2010.)

The third request in resolution 1889 was for the Secretary-General to submit a report to the Security Council by October 2010 on addressing women's participation and inclusion in peacebuilding and planning in the aftermath of conflict, taking into account the views of the Peacebuilding Commission (PBC). The Secretariat undertook wide consultations on this report throughout 2010. The report is expected to be submitted to the Council in October. It is expected this report will be considered



Brief Outline of UN System Responses

- The Secretary-General has submitted nine reports to the Security Council on the thematic topic of Women, peace and security outlining the UN system response to resolution 1325, and subsequently resolution 1820
- There have been two UN Systemwide Action Plans (2005-2007 and 2008-2009) developed on implementation of resolution 1325
- The Secretary-General has released biennial reports on 'Improvement of the Status of Women in the UN System' in response to his strategic plan of action cited in resolution 1325 to raise the number of women in the UN system to 50 per cent by 2000 (see A/61/318 and A/63/364 for the two latest reports)
- UN Action Against Sexual Violence in Conflict was formed on 8 March 2007 comprising 13 UN entities; its latest publication was 'Addressing Conflict-related Sexual Violence: An analytical inventory of peacekeeping practice' launched in June 2010
- DPKO has a senior gender adviser at Headquarters in New York
- DPA does not yet have budget approval from the General Assembly for a senior gender adviser at Headquarters
- UN Women—headed by former President of Chile, Michelle Bachelet —will come into effect on 1 January 2011
- UNIFEM briefs all incoming Security Council members on the topic of women, peace and security on behalf of UNIFEM, DPKO and UN Action Against Sexual Violence in Conflict

by the Council at the same time as the indicators.

In conclusion, therefore, it seems reasonable given the wide scope of this normative framework to expect to see references to the issues of women, peace and security in all Security Council peace operation mandates. In particular, based upon the normative framework, one would expect to see references specifically to women when the Council considers peace mediation, peace negotiations, implementing peace agreements, the design and execution of disarmament, demobilisation and reintegration (DDR) programmes and DDR and repatriation (DDRR) programmes, mine action, security sector and justice reform, monitoring human rights situations, monitoring the situation of refugees and internally displaced persons and electoral planning to increase women's participation (both as candidates and voters). It is reasonable to expect the Council to reinforce the importance of increasing the number of women in UN entities responsible for implementing the above mandates, especially in military and police components and in mission leadership positions.

One might also reasonably expect to see the framework reflected in other Council action on country-specific issues at different stages of the conflict cycle, including conflict prevention, preventive diplomacy, conflict resolution or peacebuilding.

4. Cross-Cutting Analysis: Resolutions

Research Methodology

In collating the following data in order to test whether cross-cutting expectations have been met, we analysed Council resolutions from the period from November 2000 to August 2010. We separated the resolutions into the categories of: total number of resolutions; resolutions where one might reasonably expect to find a reference to the topics covered in resolution 1325 (or after their adoption to resolutions 1820, 1888 or 1889); and resolutions where indeed a reference to the topics covered in resolution 1325 (and associated resolutions) was found.

Given the breadth of relevant issues covered by resolution 1325, references to at least some of these might be expected in all country-specific resolutions. In particular references in resolutions that established or altered the mandate of peacekeeping operations seemed reasonable, given that in resolution 1325 the Council expressed 'its willingness to incorporate a gender perspective into peacekeeping operations, and urged the Secretary-General to ensure that, where appropriate, field operations included a gender component'. (See Annex II for specific references to women, peace and security elements in peace operation mandates and resolutions renewing mandates from 2000 to 2010.)

A resolution containing **only** a reference to, say, ensuring HIV awareness amongst peacekeepers or to the Secretary-General's zero tolerance approach to sexual abuse and exploitation by peacekeepers was not considered as meeting the test. While both are important issues for the Council to address and reinforce, we considered each to be tangential to the scope and intent of resolution 1325.

In our analysis we categorised the following as thematic issues: UN peace operations (including the relationship between the Security Council and troop contributing countries), conflict prevention/mediation/peacebuilding (including the role of the PBC), the Security Council's relationship with regional organisations (such as the African Union), protection of civilians, counter-terrorism, small arms and light weapons, children and armed conflict and non-proliferation.

Country Situations

The analysis shows that there has been a gradual increase in the number and quality of references to women, peace and security in Council resolutions on country situations. The period 2001 to 2006 saw a gradual increase from 22 percent to a steady plateau of around 30 percent (with a spike to 40 percent in 2003).

There was a significant change from the start of 2007. The Council moved from including a reference to women in 11 out of 38 relevant resolutions in 2006, to including such a reference in 20 of the 34 relevant resolutions in 2007. In other words, the number of references jumped from 30 to 60 percent in one year.

References increased further in 2008 (67 percent) and 2009 (73 percent). In January-August 2010, 13 of the 16 (or 81 percent) resolutions adopted by the Council on country-specific situations have included a reference to women, peace and security.

Composition of References in Resolutions

The detail of specific references to women, peace and security has varied widely over the decade. For example, some resolutions have only included a specific preambular reference to resolution 1325, with no further reference to women in the operative section of the resolution.

Early on, there appeared to have been a tendency for women's participation to be encouraged in the preambular sections, where the Council usually would highlight a particular achievement of a women's group described in the related Secretary-General's report, for example the consistent references to the Mano River Women's Peace Network in resolutions on Liberia and Sierra Leone from 2001-2003 or the efforts of Somali women in 2006. The references to women in the operative sections almost always focused on protection, as most often these references were expanding or reinforcing an existing mandate.

Since 2007, references to women became more consistent across

country situations on the Council's agenda. Since 2007 women, peace and security issues have been reflected consistently in all the resolutions on the situations in: Côte d'Ivoire, Nepal, Haiti, Timor-Leste, Afghanistan, Liberia, Sudan (both Darfur, and north/south issues), Chad/Central African Republic, Burundi, Sierra Leone and Guinea-Bissau. References to women, peace and security had been included in almost all resolutions on the DRC (nine out of 11) and Somalia (seven out of eight).

This compares to the period of 2000-2006 where there were no country situations that consistently contained a reference to women, peace and security. In most country situations, half or less than half, of the resolutions issued contained a reference. For example: Côte d'Ivoire (five out of 11); Haiti (three out of six); Timor-Leste (two out of seven); Liberia (three out of eight); Burundi (three out of eight) and Sierra Leone (seven out of 14). Notably, over this period for resolutions on the DRC, only eight out of 21 contained a reference to women.





The Council has never included a mention of women, peace and security in its resolutions on the situations in Bosnia-Herzegovina, Georgia, Kosovo, Croatia, Western Sahara, Cyprus or Ethiopia/Eritrea. There has not been a reference in the resolutions on the situation in Lebanon since expanding the mandate of the UN Interim Force in Lebanon (UNIFIL) in 2006.

Beyond these overall trends, several noteworthy patterns emerge:

- the Council first expressed its concern over the level of sexual violence against women in its resolution 1370 (2001) on the situation in Sierra Leone;
- resolution 1410 (2002) that established the UN Mission of Support in East Timor (UNMISET) was the first resolution to recognise 'the importance of a gender perspective in peacekeeping operations and mandated a focal point for gender to be included within its civilian component;
- the first resolution to mention resolution 1325 following its adoption was resolution 1445 (2002) renewing the UN Organization Mission in the DRC (MONUC) mandate;
- resolution 1445 on the DRC also saw the start of a trend to include vague language on including gender 'perspectives' or the importance of 'gender mainstreaming' in Council resolutions, without identifying elsewhere in the mandate the specific areas where gender was relevant or the action required;
- the Council has only once encouraged a specific mission to increase the number of female peacekeepers. This came in 2003 in resolution 1493 regarding MONUC, when the Council called upon MONUC to increase the deployment of women as military

observers as one response to address the use of violence against women and girls as a tool of warfare;

- a preambular reference to resolution 1325 (without its title 'women, peace and security') appeared in UNIFIL resolutions in 2003; it continued to stay in the mandate extensions until 2006; starting with resolution 1701, there have been no mentions at all of resolution 1325 or women;
- UNMIS is the only situation that has consistent references to women's participation without also referring to protection, in the context of the importance of women's involvement in implementing the Comprehensive Peace Agreement (CPA);
- the Council has only once called upon an operation to develop a gender equality strategy in cooperation with national authorities: in the mandate of UN Integrated Mission in Timor-Leste (UNMIT) established in 2006 through resolution 1704;
- the Council has mandated the head of a peacekeeping operation to identify women's protection advisers in the case of one peace operation,

MONUC in 2009 (also included in the mandate of its successor mission, MONUSCO).

Thematic Resolutions

The Council has adopted 19 relevant thematic resolutions since the adoption of resolution 1325. Of these, 13 contained a reference to women, peace and security issues. Three of these were specifically on women, peace and security (resolutions 1820, 1888 and 1889). The remaining ten were on the topics of protection of civilians (three), children and armed conflict (three), conflict prevention (two), peacebuilding (one) and peace operations (one).

While the Council has consistently considered this issue over the period from 2000 to 2010, it has not always reflected it in relevant thematic resolutions. The Council has never mentioned women, peace and security elements in its resolutions on small arms and light weapons, nor on cooperation between the UN and regional organisations, particularly in the context of joint peacekeeping operations (see resolutions 1631 of 2005 and 1809 of 2008), nor in



its 2001 resolution on the relationship between the Council and troop contributing countries (resolution 1353).

It is perhaps surprising that the Council has omitted women, peace and security issues from its consideration of cooperation between the UN and regional organisations, given the emphasis of these resolutions on the role of regional organisations, in particular the African Union (AU) in mediation, peace negotiations, peacekeeping operations and post-conflict recovery-all prominent areas of resolution 1325. For example resolution 1809 (2008) considered, amongst a range of issues, the importance of the AU's role in conflict mediation without mentioning resolution 1325. Also many AU peacekeeping missions have evolved into UN peacekeeping missions, often with the same troop contributors.

There is a strong overlap between the issues of resolution 1325 and children and armed conflict, in particular the effect of conflict on girls. Despite that overlap the Council has not drawn a link to resolution 1325 in its last two resolutions on children and armed conflict, including in the key resolution on this agenda item, resolution 1612 of 2005, which established a Council working group on this issue.

5. Cross-Cutting Analysis: Presidential Statements

Research Methodology

The analysis also covers presidential statements. Presidential statements, while often brief, are as carefully negotiated as resolutions. They are usually adopted when there are significant developments on the ground in country situations on the Council's agenda, or to reinforce important points following open debates or the release of key documents by the Secretariat. The language in presidential statements is useful to analyse, as it is often less formulaic than resolutions and as such can reflect the mood of the Council on a given issue.

Since many presidential statements are issued in response to a particular event, we have considered carefully which statements should reasonably include a reference to women, peace and security. We have considered relevant those that discuss a country situation where the issues of resolution 1325 are part of the mandate of the peace operation or could be a prominent aspect of the development on the ground. We have also considered relevant those presidential statements that take the opportunity to reinforce key general points, where one might reasonably expect to see the issues of resolution 1325 reinforced or reiterated.

To remain consistent in our analysis between resolutions and presidential statements we have categorised the statements issued to condemn particular terrorist incidents as thematic, despite their often country-specific nature.

Country Situations

The analysis concludes that a relatively low number of relevant presidential statements contain references to women, peace and security. The lowest point was 2003 when there were no references. The highest point was 2009 when close to 30 percent contained a reference. So far in 2010 one (out of two) relevant country-situation presidential statements (issued in February on Guinea) contained a reference to resolution 1888, reiterating 'the call it made in its resolution 1888 (2009) to increase the representation of women in mediation processes and decision-making processes with regard to conflict resolution and peacebuilding'.

Analysis

The years with the highest number of resolutions mentioning women, peace and security issues, such as 2003 and 2007, correspond to the years with the lowest number of presidential statements, suggesting that the Council was reinforcing its key points in resolutions rather than presidential statements in those years.

The references to the women, peace and security vary significantly in quality between different statements. Some, such as that quoted above on Guinea, are specific to issues raised in 1325 or a





related resolution, whereas others may simply call upon the women in a given country to vote in an upcoming election.

Over the past ten years the Council has included a reference to women, peace and security in the presidential statements it has issued on Liberia, Kenya and Zimbabwe (one statement has been issued for each in the last ten years). References to women were sporadic in statements issued on other country situations: Great Lakes/Uganda (three out of four); DRC (five out of thirty); Kosovo (two out of 11); Somalia (four out of 22); Sudan (one out of nine); Afghanistan (three out of eight); Haiti (one out of nine); Sierra Leone (one out of three); Burundi (one out of 15); and Chad/CAR (one out of 13). Not one of the 19 presidential statements issued on Côte d'Ivoire mentioned women, peace and security issues.

Thematic Presidential Statements

A significant proportion of thematic presidential statements include a reference to issues relevant to women, peace and security. For example in 2002 six out of seven relevant thematic statements included a reference, in 2005 it was six out of nine. In the first eight months of 2010, six out of eight relevant presidential statements included a reference to the issues covered by 1325 or its related resolutions.

Analysis

The thematic topics covered by presidential statements are wide. Those that have included references to the issues of 1325 include post-conflict peacebuilding, small arms and light weapons, protection of civilians, children and armed conflict, peacekeeping policy, justice and the rule of law, security sector reform, mediation, and preventive diplomacy. Those where one might have expected to see reinforcement of the issues of resolution 1325, but where there was no mention, include the UN's relationship with regional organisations, the role of civil society in the prevention and pacific settlement of disputes and some key statements on small arms, peacebuilding (including S/ PRST/2005/30 that fed into the eventual mandate of the PBC) and peacekeeping policy, such as the most recent presidential statement on the importance of developing transition and exit strategies (S/PRST/2010/2).

6. Cross-Cutting Analysis: Mission Mandates

This section analyses whether the Council has incorporated gender issues in its mandated field missions. Council-mandated missions can include peacekeeping operations, special political missions and peacebuilding support missions. DPKO administers and directs peacekeeping operations. DPA administers and directs special political missions and peacebuilding support missions. The only current exception is the UN Mission in Afghanistan (UNAMA), which is a political mission directed by DPKO.

With two exceptions, all new mission mandates established by the Council since the adoption of 1325 have included a reference to women, peace and security issues. The peacebuilding operation, BINUCA, established in the Central African Republic in 2009 (via a presidential statement rather than a resolution) has a mandate focused on implementation of the peace process, political dialogue and DDR, however does not mention women. The other exception was UNAMA's first mandate established in 2002 through resolution 1401 which included no reference at all to resolution 1325 or women. This was a striking omission, as all previous resolutions on Afghanistan had included at least a reference to the human rights situation facing women under the Taliban. This omission was subsequently rectified by the Council and the most recent renewal of UNAMA's mandate



includes monitoring the human rights situation facing women, as well as numerous references to women's involvement in political and government institutions and protection and human rights issues relevant to women and girls.

A significant proportion of resolutions establishing and renewing Councilmandated missions contain a reference to women, peace and security issues (see the table below). However, there are several missions where this is consistently not the case. For example the mandates and renewals of the UN Peacekeeping Force in Cyprus (UNFICYP), the UN Mission for the Referendum in Western Sahara (MIN-URSO) and UNIFIL do not mention women, peace and security, despite the mandates of these missions including issues covered by resolution 1325, such as peace negotiations, implementation of peace agreements and post-conflict community reconciliation (UNFICYP, MINURSO) or are significant peacekeeping operations where the mission should reasonably consider a gender perspective in fulfilling its mandate, such as UNIFIL (which is also mandated to undertake mine action). The UN Mission in Nepal (UNMIN) has a narrow mandate regarding the implementation of the Comprehensive Peace Agreement (CPA) and arms monitoring. Yet the Council at least included in UNMIN's mandate a preambular reference to recognising the need to pay special attention to the needs and the role of women in the peace process, as mentioned in Nepal's CPA and resolution 1325.

See Annex II for a breakdown of the mandates of current missions established or renewed since the adoption of resolution 1325.

Summary of Council Mandated Missions

Peace Operation	Date Established	Last Renewed	Mandate includes women, peace and security
MONUSCO (DRC)	28 May 2010		Yes
UNIOGBIS (Guinea-Bissau)	26 June 2009 (came into effect 1 January 2010)		Yes
BINUCA (CAR)	7 April 2009 (came into effect 1 January 2010)		No
UNIPSIL (Sierra Leone)	4 August 2008	15 September 2009	Yes
MINURCAT (Chad/CAR)	25 September 2007	25 May 2010	Yes
UNAMID (Darfur, Sudan)	31 July 2007	30 July 2010	Yes
UNMIN (Nepal)	27 January 2007	12 May 2010	No (but preambular reference)
BINUB (Burundi)	25 Oct 2006	16 December 2009	Yes
UNMIT (Timor-Leste)	25 August 2006	26 February 2010	Yes
UNIOSIL (Sierra Leone)	31 August 2005	N/A (see UNIPSIL)	Yes
UNMIS (Sudan)	24 March 2005	29 April 2010	Yes
ONUB (Burundi)	21 May 2004	N/A (see BINUB)	Yes
MINUSTAH (Haiti)	30 April 2004	13 October 2009	Yes
UNOCI (Côte d'Ivoire)	27 February 2004	30 June 2010	Yes
UNMIL (Liberia)	19 September 2003	15 September 2009	Yes
MINUCI (Côte d'Ivoire)	13 May 2003	N/A (see UNOCI)	Yes
UNAMI (Iraq)	14 August 2003	5 August 2009	No (but preambular reference)
UNAMA (Afghanistan)	28 March 2002	22 March 2010	Yes
UNIFIL (Lebanon)	established on 19 March 1978 and expanded on 11 August 2006	30 August 2010	No
UNFICYP (Cyprus)	established prior to 1325	15 June 2010	No
UNDOF (Middle East)	established prior to 1325	30 June 2010	No
MINURSO (Western Sahara)	established prior to 1325	30 April 2010	No
UNMIK (Kosovo)	established prior to 1325		No



The increase in references to women. peace and security in Council mandates seems to reflect the increase in the number of integrated mandates, (i.e. where all UN entities also come under the authority of the Special Representative heading the mission) and also the increasingly wide range of tasks missions have been mandated to undertake. Missions can be mandated to work with host authorities on a wide range of capacity building programmes, including to improve rule of law through security sector reform and justice reform and assist local authorities with human rights monitoring, IDP and refugee resettlement and mine action, as well as more traditional functions such as monitoring and assisting the implementation of peace agreements.

There have also been several missions where the UN is authorised under Chapter VII to undertake particular functions on behalf of the government in question or, in Kosovo and Timor-Leste (prior to 2002), to act as the government. When the UN is undertaking executive functions it is an opportunity for the Council to mandate the UN to implement directly aspects of resolution 1325 related to gender equality.

7. Timor-Leste Case Study: Successful Gender Mainstreaming and Steps Toward Equality

Since 1999 the UN has had a significant role in Timor-Leste. The UN's role has involved preparations for the referendum in August 1999 and responding to the post-referendum violence, establishing a major peacekeeping mission and creating innovative new machinery

for transitional administration and building the structures for an emergent state from 1999 to 2002. The UN has been working with and supporting an independent Timor-Leste since 2002. Since 1999 the UN has had five consecutive peacekeeping or political missions in the country. The current integrated mission in Timor-Leste (UNMIT) established in August 2006 was the first globally, and to date only, UN peacekeeping operation with a specific mandate to work together with United Nations agencies, funds and programmes, to support the development of a national strategy to promote gender equality and empowerment of women.

UNMIT's mandate also includes enhancing democratic governance and political dialogue, supporting electoral processes (including parliamentary, presidential and local elections), providing support and training to the national police (effectively rebuilding the leadership that collapsed in 2006), enhancing the effectiveness of the justice system and security sector, assisting national capacity for the monitoring, promotion and protection of human rights and cooperation and coordination with UN agencies, funds and programmes to maximise assistance in post-conflict peacebuilding and capacity building.

There are many challenges to gender equality and the protection of women in Timor-Leste, in particular persistently high levels of domestic violence. The post-referendum violence in 1999 was marked in particular by attacks against women by pro-integration militia, including documented murders of nuns and other civilian women. There had been a history of women's involvement in the insurgent army, *Falintil*, and its support networks during Indonesian occupation. Women were known as effective runners, bringing food and information to fighters in hiding. As a result there were many women, as combatants and in support roles, in the *Falintil* cantonment sites created by the first international stabilisation forces to arrive in 1999. However, very few women were integrated when *Falintil* fighters were integrated into the national army established upon independence.

The violence in and around Dili of 2006 led to significant internal displacement, which at its peak saw close to 100,000 people living in IDP camps. Further unrest in other population centres in both the west and east in 2006 and 2007 saw further displacement. Increased incidents of violence against women occurred in the IDP camps as well as in communities when the displaced returned home. The IDP camps were gradually all closed. However it is estimated by UNMIT that currently domestic violence cases comprise over one-third of all cases pending before national courts.

The leadership of UNMIT has consistently sought to achieve gender mainstreaming throughout the implementation of its mandate. This has been supported by an active gender adviser role in the mission and by DPKO at UN headquarters. The UNMIT public information unit has also been an important tool. The DPKO desk officer responsible for Timor-Leste during the establishment of UNMIT had previously worked for UNIFEM, and helped to ensure that parties implementing the mandate were aware of the importance of taking gender into account. It seems that UNMIT has been very effective with UN funds and programmes in Dili, especially UNIFEM and UNDP on a

range of gender specific programmes and projects.

Rule of Law: Justice System and Police

UNDP has a long-term programme in Timor-Leste to support capacity-building in the justice sector. UNDP supports a Legal Training Centre which by the end of 2009 had trained 13 national judges (four women), 13 prosecutors (six women) and 11 public defenders (three women).

UNMIT has supported active recruitment of women to the National Police of Timor-Leste (Policia Nacional de Timor-Leste, or PNTL). Women currently comprise 20 percent of the police force. The country's first female district commander (in the district of Liquica) was appointed on 7 September 2010. In order to specifically deal with the problem of violence against women, UNMIT facilitated the establishment of a Vulnerable Persons Unit to deal primarily with gender-based crime, made up principally of women PNTL officers. With the support of the United Nations, child- and victim-friendly interview rooms were established in Vulnerable Persons Units in five districts. UNMIT has also consistently pushed police contributing countries to provide more female police. However, currently only 52 out of 928 community police in UNMIT are female.

The situation is less positive for women in the national military. In early 2009 women constituted 9 percent of the army. A recent recruitment campaign had a goal of attracting 10 percent women as new recruits. Only 7 percent recruited were women (none of whom were selected for the officer programme).

Supporting Women's Increased Role in Decision Making

Following the 2007 parliamentary elections, women hold 29 percent of seats in Parliament, drawn from the spectrum of political parties. This was due to the requirement that political parties put forward at least one woman candidate out of four on their party lists. The deputy speaker of parliament is a woman.

Women hold three ministerial positions in the current coalition government in the portfolios of finance, justice and social solidarity, as well as the positions of prosecutor-general, vice minister for health and secretary of state for the promotion of equality.

In the village (suco) elections in 2009, 11 women were elected as suco chiefs (442 sucos in the country), and 37 women were elected as hamlet (aldeias) chiefs (2,225 aldeias). The relatively poor result for women at the suco and aldeia level, compared to the national outcome, demonstrated that many cultural and structural barriers remain to women in local politics (including patriarchal traditions at the local level and a lack of childcare).

UNIFEM and the UN Development Programme (UNDP) have a range of projects in Timor-Leste to support women's active involvement in politics.

UNIFEM's 'Integrated Programme for Women in Politics and Decision Making' aims to promote gender equality by increasing women's participation in politics and in decision-making at the national, district, suco and aldeia levels. At the national level, the programme involves providing training and support to female parliamentarians, support for the women's wings of political parties and the resourcing of a Gender Resource Centre at the national parliament (that assists in providing gender-sensitive analysis of national budgets).

UNDP's closely related project, 'Strengthening Parliamentary Democracy in Timor-Leste' provides support to parliamentary standing committees and individual parliamentarians to draft, scrutinise and amend bills as well as analyse and present their policy implications. The project also assists parliament to communicate its work to the public and promote the empowerment of women.

UNDP, UNIFEM, UNMIT and the secretary of state for the promotion of equality supported the parliamentary women's caucus in the development of a five-year plan (2008-2012) to mainstream gender in the work of the national parliament.

The Special Representative has an active programme of meetings with key political actors to support ongoing high-level political dialogue in which the gender element of the Security Council mandate plays an important role. As part of this programme, the Special Representative meets the parliamentary women's caucus on a regular basis.

Gender in Timorese Policymaking and the Role of the Civil Society

UNMIT and UNIFEM have worked closely on policies to incorporate gender across the activities of the Timorese government, in order to implement UNMIT's mandate to support the Timorese develop a national strategy to promote gender equality and the empowerment of women. The implementation of this strategy was strengthened by a decision by Timorese authorities in March 2008 to create gender focal points across all Timorese



government ministries. These gender focal points have developed sectorwide policies on gender in the areas of education, health, agriculture and vocational and professional training (under the overall guidance of the secretary of state for the promotion of equality).

Significant legislative reform has taken place to harmonise national legislation with CEDAW. Land laws and a civil code have been adopted which grant equal rights to both women and men to use and own land and in all aspects of matrimonial regime and inheritance rights. The criminal code now categorises domestic violence as a public crime, which ensures criminal procedures do not depend upon a formal complaint by the victim. A specific law against domestic violence was recently adopted by parliament. The relationship between formal justice institutions and traditional justice mechanisms, which are most commonly utilised to address domestic violence and sexual violence, may be enhanced through the development of a draft bill on customary law which seeks to ensure that customary practices are consistent with national and international human rights standards, particularly in relation to women and children.

The efforts of the Timorese government, UN entities and civil society to raise the profile of gender issues and put in place gender-sensitive institutional structures and policies have come into sharp relief following the successful election of their nominated candidate, Maria Pires, to the UN CEDAW Committee in June 2010. This was the first victory for Timor-Leste, or one of its nominated candidates, in a UN election; and was the first time Timor-Leste had nominated a candidate for a treaty body. The election was highly competitive with 28 candidates competing for 12 available positions. Pires had served as Country Programme Coordinator for UNIFEM and was a member of the Constituent Assembly that drafted Timor's constitution. The campaign was closely supported by the gender adviser from UNMIT, who had been specifically placed in UNMIT to assist Timor-Leste in its implementation of and reporting to CEDAW. This adviser is now placed within the Office of the Secretary of State for the Promotion of Equality.

There are several active NGOs working on women's issues in Timor-Leste. These include the umbrella civil society organisation *Redefeto*, the head of which addressed the Security Council on the issues facing Timorese women during its debate on women, peace and security in October 2006.

Timor-Leste appointed a woman as permanent representative to the UN in New York for the first time in March 2010.

1325 Project: Liberia/Ireland/ Timor-Leste

Liberia, Northern Ireland (supported by Ireland) and Timor-Leste have established a trilateral cross-learning initiative on implementation of resolution 1325. Each partner has hosted information sharing meetings on an aspect of resolution implementing 1325: participation (hosted by Ireland, led by Northern Ireland), protection (Liberia) and prevention (Timor-Leste). The focus of the initiative is to facilitate the sharing of experiences between women in conflict-affected areas and help Ireland and Timor-Leste develop their National Action Plans to implement resolution 1325.

8. Cross-Cutting Analysis: Secretary-General's Reports on Country Situations

Secretary-General's reports are a key source of information for Council members. Some Council members base their negotiating positions entirely on the information contained in these reports.

In resolution 1325 the Council requested the Secretary-General, where appropriate, to include reporting on gender mainstreaming throughout peacekeeping missions and all other aspects relating to women and girls. In resolution 1820 the Council reinforced this with a request for the Secretary-General systematically to include in his written reports to the Council on conflict situations his observations and recommendations concerning the protection of women and girls from all forms of sexual violence.

Research Methodology

Our analysis is therefore based upon a review of all country-situation reports submitted by the Secretary-General to the Council since the adoption of resolution 1325 to the end of August 2010. We did not include the reports specifically prepared for the working group on children and armed conflict, despite the potential overlap with gender issues. This is because those reports are only handled by the Council's working group on children and armed conflict and do not explicitly contain the information requested by the Council cited above.

Our analysis is broken down according to the number of reports with a reference to gender issues, and further into those reports with more than one paragraph on gender issues. This is an attempt to gauge the relative depth of references to women and gender issues in Secretary-General's reports.

Secretary-General's Reports on Country Situations 2000-2005

From the adoption of resolution 1325 to the end of 2005 the number of references in reports to gender gradually increased from 50 percent of all country-situation reports in 2001 to 86 percent in 2005.

The number of references in reports to gender which contain material greater than one paragraph also increased from around 60 percent in 2001 to closer to 90 percent in 2005.

Over this period we observed an increasing tendency for the Secretary-General to report on gender as a separate section which cuts across missions' mandates. (Some even have a separate section entitled 'Implementation of resolution 1325'.) On the other hand, other missions combine gender issues with governance or human rights.

2006-2010

The proportion of Secretary-General's reports including references to gender issues did not continue to increase in 2007. Moreover it actually dropped to 82 percent in 2008. The proportion increases in 2009 to over 90 percent. It stays at this level for the reports released so far in 2010. The proportion of those with a reference of more than one paragraph peaked at 95 percent in 2009 and has dipped to 85 percent in the first eight months of 2010.

Following the adoption of resolution 1820 there was an increase in reporting specifically on instances of sexual violence and measures being taken by UN missions and host governments to address the issue.

Only one mission includes a separate section on sexual violence—the mission in the DRC.

Analysis

There has been a gradual increase in information on women, peace and security in Secretary-General's reports, in particular over the past five years. It is now routine to see gender addressed as a cross-cutting issue in a separate section in most reports. This increase can be attributed to a gradual increase in UN activities to implement resolution 1325 in the field, as well as increased calls for information from the Council. Despite such increases, the amount and detail of information in many Secretary-General's reports still falls short of that requested by the Council. In particular, there has yet to be an increase in detailed information or analysis of the challenges to protecting women from sexual violence in relevant country situations.

There is wide divergence in the quality and quantity of references to women, peace and security between reports on different country situations. This suggests that each mission has its own approach to reporting on its implementation of resolutions 1325 and 1820 and that there is a lack of guidance from UN Headquarters. The lack of consistent information across country situations makes it difficult for the Council to compare the situation of women, or the issues affecting the security of women, across countries on its agenda.

The lack of consistency becomes clear when one looks at some examples. The Secretary-General's reports on Timor-Leste consistently discuss gender aspects across UNMIT's entire mandate. The February 2010 report for example contains a reference to women or gender in 25 paragraphs, on top of the nine specifically entitled 'gender'. UNMIT also seems more successful than other missions in disaggregating data by gender (and reporting that data). This contrasts to Secretary-General's reports from Liberia and Côte d'Ivoire which on average include a reference to gender in only four or five paragraphs per report and tend to





provide disaggregated data only on the staffing composition of the mission.

The reports on the peacebuilding offices in CAR, Burundi, Sierra Leone and Guinea-Bissau tend to include more detailed information on women and gender issues, perhaps reflecting their capacity building mandates in areas such as justice, security sector and electoral reform.

Interestingly, even though the Council has never included language on women, peace and security in its resolutions on MINURSO in Western Sahara and UNFICYP in Cyprus, the Secretary-General's reports have increasingly included information on the circumstances facing women in both situations. In particular, the Secretary-General highlights efforts to include women's groups and perspectives into both respective peace negotiations.

While some Secretary-General's reports include detailed information on women, peace and security there is not yet enough information in country-specific reports to eliminate the need for the Secretary-General to prepare an annual report on the impact of conflict on women in the countries on the Council's agenda (as the Council requested in 2007 and 2008).

9. Cross-Cutting Analysis: Security Council Visiting Missions

The Council travels two to three times a year to the field. These Council missions are normally to locations where there is a Council-mandated mission.

In resolution 1325 the Council expressed its willingness to ensure that such Security Council missions 'take

into account gender considerations and the rights of women, including through consultation with local and international women's groups'. This has been repeatedly reinforced in Council presidential statements and also in resolutions 1820 and 1888.

The published reports on Council missions indicate the outcomes of the visit to the field, who the Council met and the terms of reference (TOR) of the mission.

Since the adoption of resolution 1325 the Council has undertaken 24 missions to the field. Council missions have met representatives of local women's groups during 14 of its 24 missions (according to the published mission reports). It was noted in some mission reports that only some members of the mission met with women's groups. In two additional missions the Council met civil society, but it was not clear that women's groups were met specifically or separately.

The Council included gender considerations and monitoring the rights of women in only eight out of 24 of its published TOR. For some missions although gender issues were included in the TOR, they were not reflected in actual meetings or the eventual written mission report.

The Council has discussed gender considerations in 19 out of 24 published reports, sometimes in situations where the Council did not meet women's groups.

By contrast in the 13 missions undertaken prior to the adoption of resolution 1325 the Council met with women's groups specifically in only one mission (to Western Sahara—but did not reflect any gender issues in its written mission report) and met with civil society representatives (not specified if women's groups were present) in seven of the 13 missions.

Analysis

Resolution 1325 seems to have led to an increase in effort by the Council to meet with women's representatives and reflect gender considerations in subsequent mission reports. However, there is still resistance in the Council to including gender issues in the TOR of Council missions, despite the commitments of resolution 1325 and the reiteration of this willingness in further Council decisions. It is also apparent that even when the Council met representatives of women's groups or survivors of sexual violence that the meetings were not always detailed in the eventual report.

10. Security Council Engagement with Stakeholders

10.1 Secretary-General

The Secretary-General has submitted nine reports on women, peace and security at the request of the Council. Eight of these are specific to resolution 1325 and one to resolution 1820.

The first report (S/2002/1154), prepared by Angela King, then Assistant Secretary-General and Special Adviser on Gender Issues and Advancement of Women, remains the most informative to those unfamiliar with the issue or the reasons why it is on the Council's agenda. Based on the Secretary-General's study into the impact of armed conflict on women and girls, the report highlighted the disproportionate impact of conflict on women and girls compared to male civilians, both as specific targets of gender-based and sexual violence and because they constitute the majority of

Impact of Armed Conflict on Women and Girls (conclusions from S/2002/1154)

- Many of the experiences of women and girls in armed conflict are similar to those of men and boys. They suffer the same trauma, are forcibly displaced, injured and killed, and have difficulties in making a living during and after conflict. But there are important differences. Women and girls have become prime targets of armed conflict and suffered its impact disproportionatelyparticularly as gender-based and sexual violence have become weapons of warfare and among the defining characteristics of contemporary armed conflict. Women and children also constitute the majority of the world's refugees and internally displaced persons.
- Women and girls are vulnerable to all forms of violence, but particularly sexual violence and exploitation, including torture, rape, mass rape, forced pregnancy, sexual slavery, enforced prostitution, and trafficking. Easy access to weapons increases interpersonal violence, including domestic violence, which often continues and may even increase in the aftermath of conflict.
- Armed conflict exacerbates inequalities between women and men, and discrimination against women and girls. If women do not participate in decision making, they are unlikely to become involved in decisions about the conflict or the peace process.
- The health consequences for women and girls during conflict are enormous. Women and girls are highly vulnerable due to their sexual and reproductive roles. Gender discrimination can lead to inequitable distribution of food to women and girls, causing malnutrition and other health problems. Experiencing

or witnessing death, separation, rape, torture, destruction, loss of livelihood and material deprivation can cause severe mental and social stress.

- Women's daily tasks as providers and caregivers become increasingly difficult and dangerous, especially as public services and household goods become less and less available. Armed conflict forces women to take on more responsibilities for family security and livelihoods. But lack of land and property rights constrains their efforts. Women and girls take on new or non-traditional occupations. Forced out of the formal sector, and with increasing competition in the informal sector, they may be pushed into dangerous illegal activities.
- Armed conflict also changes social structures and relations. Women as well as men are victims of detention and 'disappearance'. The 'disappearance' of male relatives particularly affects women in societies where their status is directly linked to their relationships with men. Women are traumatised and cannot find closure as long as they still hope for the return of their relatives.
- Girls face particular difficulties. They may be forced into early marriages as a coping strategy in economically desperate households. Girls' enrolment in schools often drops in times of war. When forced to become heads of households, girls are particularly marginalised, suffer social stigma, and are at an increased risk of abuse and sexual violence.
- Refugee, returnee and internally displaced women and girls suffer human rights abuses throughout

their displacement flight, in camp settings and in resettlement. Weakened or lost social support structures result in less security, higher risk of harassment or abuse, and problems in accessing assistance necessary for survival. Difficulties faced by women and girls are not always identified and addressed in the planning and management of camps. Increased participation of women in decisions regarding the organisation of camps, the layout of shelters and facilities and the distribution of supplies is critical for reducing the risks for women and girls.

- Women and girls are not only victims in armed conflict: they are also active agents. They may choose to participate in the conflict or to provide non-military support; or they may be manipulated or forced into various roles. Women and girls may be forced into sexual slavery or coerced to work as domestic servants for fighting groups. Many women organise for conflict resolution, peacemaking and disarmament. They are involved in rebuilding the social, cultural, economic and political fabric of their societies. But even where women have been involved in informal peace processes, they are normally pushed into the background when formal peace negotiations begin.
- The specific impact of conflict on women and girls calls for specific responses from the international community. Gender-based differences and inequalities need to be addressed in policies, planning and implementation in all peace operations, humanitarian activities and reconstruction efforts.



the world's refugees and internally displaced persons.

The next four Secretary-General's reports focused on the implementation of resolution 1325 across the UN system. The second report (in 2004) highlighted the wide range of UN entities responsible for implementing 1325 and the challenges to ensure coordination. The next three reports focused entirely on the design and execution of a series of UN action plans (2005-2007, 2008-2009) to implement resolution 1325 across the UN system. The informative, and for some revelatory, nature of the first Secretary-General's report seemed to become lost in a bureaucratic exercise. As a result it would be easy to see how Council members, not to mention those in the General Assembly and Secretariat, not well-versed in the impact of conflict on women might have questioned why women, peace and security was on the Council's agenda. While it could be argued that reporting on the impact on women and girls of armed conflict should have been present in country-specific Secretary-General's reports, this was yet to systematically occur and could not be relied upon. (See analysis above of the Secretary-General's countryspecific reports.)

When reviewing the 2005-2007 action plan (which was divided into 12 different categories) the Secretary-General acknowledged that the plan had not been established as a tool for monitoring, evaluation or accountability. Nor was the plan established as an integrated UN system-wide strategy, but was rather a compilation of ongoing activities by UN entities. Most importantly the system-wide plan did not provide any links between the actions reported and undertaken and their impact on the lives of women in conflict and post-conflict situations. The Secretary-General sought to rectify some of these issues by simplifying the 2008-2009 plan to five categories and posting it online to enhance accountability. In response to a Council request, the Secretariat also undertook to compile a database on good practices and lessons learned.

10.2 Security Council Debates

Since the adoption of resolution 1325 in October 2000 the Council has held twelve debates on women, peace and security. Two of these debates were only open to Council members to speak. But most were open debates and the theme has over the years provided opportunities for a large number of countries and other stakeholders to address the Council.

Including the debate when resolution 1325 was adopted, 107 member states have addressed the Council. (Only two member states, Australia and Liechtenstein, have participated in all debates open to non-members).

In addition to the Secretary-General, the heads of UN entities such as the Office of the Special Adviser on Gender Issues and Advancement of Women, the UN Population Fund, the UN International Research and Training Institute for the Advancement of Women, PBSO, UNIFEM and DPKO have addressed the Council under this agenda item, as have the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights, the senior gender adviser of MONUC, the former force commander of MONUC, the chair of the PBC, the president of ECOSOC and the president of the General Assembly. The heads of DPA and the Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA) have never addressed the Security Council specifically under this agenda item.

Representatives of other intergovernmental organisations such as the Inter Parliamentary Union and the Commonwealth Secretariat have also addressed the Council during these debates.

The thematic debates have also afforded non-governmental organisations a rare opportunity to address the Council in a formal meeting. This started in 2004 when Ms. Agathe Rwankuba a lawyer at the Bukavu Court of Appeals in South Kivu, DRC, and member of the NGO organisation Women's Network for the Protection of Human Rights and Peace (Réseau des femmes pour la défense des droits et la paix) was invited under the UK presidency to address the Council. The Council has also invited representatives of women's NGOs from Afghanistan, West Africa, Burundi and Timor-Leste to speak at debates in 2005 and 2006.

Representatives of the NGO Working Group on Women, Peace and Security have been invited to speak on three occasions, starting in 2007. Council members, including the President hosting the debate, also often engage directly with NGOs ahead of consideration of items related to women, peace and security.

10.3 Arria-Formula Briefings

The Council has also held seven Arriaformula meetings with representatives of women's civil society, including women affected by armed conflict. Six of these briefings came ahead of the thematic open debates; one hosted by Belgium in December 2008 was focused specifically on the situation in eastern DRC. The Arria-formula briefings were often held the day prior to the open debate, but on a few occasions they were held in the weeks prior, giving Council members longer to reflect on their discussions with women's representatives prior to their public statements on the topic.

10.4 Peacebuilding Commission

In its 2005 presidential statement on women, peace and security, the Council

Brief Outline of Member States Work and Contributions

- Canada formed and (continues to chair) the Friends of 1325 Group in 2001—there are currently 43 members;
- DRC hosted the Subregional Conference on the Protection of Women and Children in Armed Conflict in Central Africa in Kinshasa from 14-16 November 2001 (see S/2001/1155);
- Chile and Denmark hosted a biregional conference on the role of women in peacekeeping operations in Santiago from 4-5 November 2002 (see S/2002/1408);
- Jordan, South Africa, Sweden and the UK co-chaired a Conference on Gender Justice in Post-Conflict Situations organised by UNIFEM and the International Legal Assistance Consortium (ILAC) in New York from 15-17 September 2004 (see S/2004/862);
- Sweden held a high-level meeting on 'Building partnerships for promoting gender justice in postconflict societies' in cooperation with UNIFEM and ILAC in Stockholm from 25-26 August 2005 (see S/2005/669);

- Sweden co-hosted with Liberia a High-Level meeting on 'Gender Justice in Liberia: the way forward' in Monrovia from 9-10 October 2006 (see S/2006/848);
- South Africa hosted the Africa Regional Meeting on Gender Justice in Cape Town on 21-23 March 2007 (see S/2007/607);
- The UK hosted a Wilton Park conference on the theme 'Women targeted or affected by armed conflict: what role for military peacekeepers?' organised by UNIFEM, UN Action and DPKO with the assistance of the UK and Canada from 27-29 May 2008 (see S/2008/402);
- Switzerland and Liechtenstein have supported a range of advocacy initiatives of the NGO Working Group and the Women's International League for Peace and Freedom (WILPF or PeaceWomen); and
- 16 countries have announced National Action Plans to implement resolution 1325.

welcomed the 2005 World Summit outcome to establish the PBC and looked forward to its contribution to implementing resolution 1325, inviting the PBC to pay particular attention to the knowledge and understanding women can bring through their participation and empowerment to peacebuilding processes. The Council's request for a specific report on women and peacebuilding in resolution 1889 appeared to be an effort to increase interaction between the Council and PBC on gender issues within their respective and overlapping mandates. This approach recognised that there was great scope for the PBC to address gender issues in the detailed work it does in its country-specific configurations. Given its mandate it seems a better fit for the PBC to consider the gender dimensions of post-conflict recovery than the Council. However, the limited geographic scope of the PBC and lack of systematic working methods to coordinate discussions between the Council and PBC may limit the potential for regular interaction on this issue.

11. International Legal Framework

As described above, a normative framework has now emerged through adoption of resolutions 1325, 1820, 1888, 1889 and relevant presidential statements. This normative framework builds on existing international law as a framework of protection for women and girls during armed conflict. This framework includes international humanitarian law, international human rights law, international criminal law and international refugee law.



As expressed in resolution 1888, international humanitarian law affords general protection to women and children as part of the civilian population during armed conflicts and special protection due to the fact that they can be placed particularly at risk. The four Geneva Conventions of 1949 and their two additional protocols of 1977 address the protection of civilians or non-combatants during armed conflict and have specific measures for the protection of women within the overall protection offered non-combatants. This international humanitarian law regulates the conduct of armed conflict by defining who are combatants and non-combatants to the conflict and the responsibilities of combatants towards protecting civilians/non-combatants. International humanitarian law is primarily concerned with the concepts of distinction (i.e. methods of warfare where reasonable distinction can be made between combatants and noncombatants with the purpose of minimising civilian injury and death) and proportionality (i.e. acceptance that some civilian casualties will occur when pursuing military objectives, but ensuring that these casualties are not excessive in relation to the anticipated military advantage). Generally speaking any direct attack on civilians, even if to pursue a military objective, is a violation of humanitarian law and considered a war crime or a crime against humanity.

International human rights law is also applicable during armed conflict. Key human rights instruments with a gender focus include the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), which specifically addresses trafficking in women and the exploitation and prostitution of women. Trafficking is comprehensively covered by the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime and its supplementary protocols. Specifically, the Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, especially Women and Children, was adopted by General Assembly resolution in 2000. It entered into force on 25 December 2003. Girls benefit from the specific protections for children set out in the Convention on the Rights of the Child and its Optional Protocols on the sale of children, child prostitution and the involvement of children in armed conflict.

Gender-sensitive interpretation of the definition of refugees contained in the 1951 Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees allows for women and girls to seek refugee status on the basis of gender-based persecution, including sexual violence.

In the last decade these concepts have been expanded to address some of the particular crimes experienced by women and girls in armed conflict, such as rape, forced pregnancy, enforced prostitution, trafficking and enslavement. These crimes are addressed within definitions of war crimes, crimes against humanity and as components of the crime of genocide as well as torture. Such crimes are included in the statutes of the International Tribunals for the former Yugoslavia and Rwanda, the statute of the Special Court for Sierra Leone and the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court.

Looking more closely at the Rome Statute, it is worth highlighting that specific acts against women are defined as a constituent element of the act of genocide, such as article 6(1)(d): imposing measures intended to prevent births within a group; crimes against humanity, under article 7(1)(g): rape, sexual slavery, enforced prostitution, forced pregnancy, enforced sterilisation, or any other form of sexual violence of comparable gravity; and war crimes under article 8(2)(b)(xxi): committing crimes upon personal dignity, in particular humiliating and degrading treatment and article 8(2)(b)(xxii): committing rape, sexual slavery, enforced prostitution, enforced pregnancy, enforced sterilisation and any other form of sexual violence.

A key element of the Rome Statute, and a key to addressing the issue of impunity for crimes committed against women in armed conflict, is the codification of direct and indirect command responsibility for violations of the Statute under article 25.

12. Addressing Violations

The Council has a series of measures at its disposal to address violations of international law and the 1325 normative framework as well as reducing impunity for violations against women in armed conflict.

The following analysis looks at Council action in terms of three such options: imposition of sanctions, establishment of independent Commissions of Inquiry and referrals to the International Criminal Court.

12.1 Sanctions

In resolution 1820 the Council expressed its willingness to use sanctions against perpetrators of sexual violence in armed conflict. This was expanded further in resolution 1888 to consider including designation criteria for the imposition of individual sanctions pertaining to acts of rape and

Shifting Attitudes? DPKO Comments During Debates

DPKO, as the department responsible for all UN peacekeeping operations, has a key role in the implementation of 1325. DPKO has actively developed internal policy and guidance for its missions in the implementation of 1325. It was the first peace and security agency to establish the position of gender adviser in headguarters and in missions. When addressing the Security Council at the annual debates on women, peace and security, the heads of DPKO have acknowledged that internal attitudes and resistance within DPKO have been a challenge to implementing resolution 1325. Following are excerpts of their statements:

Jean-Marie Guéhenno in 2002 (from S/PV.4589)

'Before addressing the areas in which the Department of Peacekeeping Operations (DPKO) has made concrete progress in implementing that resolution, I would like to say something on a personal note. When I arrived at the head of the DPKO, almost two years ago, I sensed from various quarters some scepticism about the dialogue about gender mainstreaming. Many appeared to misperceive it as a superficial exercise in political correctness. I should confess that I was not always immune from this misperception.

It is now plainly obvious, though, that such an attitude is not only misguided; it is also a drastic misunderstanding of what gender mainstreaming is all about. Gender mainstreaming in peacekeeping is about recognising that all segments of society are affected by conflict, sometimes in different ways, and that all segments of society also have a role to play in helping to end the violence and lay the foundation for sustainable peace.

Traditionally, we have underestimated this point, because we wrongly assumed that conflict and peace are gender-blind. They are not. Certain crimes, whose incidents can increase in a conflict setting, are specifically targeted at women and girls. Certain efforts at reconciliation have a totally different dynamic when women are included in the peace process. In some case, women's groups comprise individuals who were not engaged in combat, and thus might be more open to dialogue. In other cases, the women's group concerns can be more radicalised, because they consist of those whose husbands, fathers and sons were killed during the fighting. Furthermore, we should not assume that all combatants are men. There are women combatants, and, sadly, child soldiers as well.

The need for heightened gender perspective applies to all areas of work in a peacekeeping mission, including in areas one might otherwise overlook. Take, for example, a very small but illustrative case. In East Timor, the United Nations was given the unprecedented role of administering the territory. This included running the prisons and building correctional facilities. It may not immediately occur to many that not all prisoners are men. There are women who commit crimes, and they are in quite separate prison facilities. As a result, there is a requirement to hire women

corrections officers, often through proactive recruitment. In order to properly budget for these distinct requirements, among others, one needs to be able to forecast crime rates among women. The United Nations Transitional Administration in East Timor (UNTAET), facing urgent demands, did not think about this until its work was considerably advanced. It thus had to address this issue post facto, once the recruitment process for prison guards was almost complete.

Taking all of these factors into account is not political correctness. It is just part of the job. The example that I have just given is a very small one among hundreds. There can be a gender dimension to virtually every aspect of what peacekeepers do, whether it would be dealing with the perpetrators of crime, the victims of violence, or the political actors and civic leaders with whom the real prospects of sustainable peace reside. Recognizing these facts and taking action accordingly is what gender mainstreaming is all about.

Put simply, the adoption of Security Council resolution 1325 (2000) has precipitated a change in perceptions and it is natural that this process of change can sometimes be slow, face setbacks and scepticism. Inevitably, however, misguided cynicism will be overtaken by the facts. It is only a matter of time.'

Jean-Marie Guéhenno in 2005 (from S/PV.5294)

'I should not have to clarify that, but it must be noted that a significant proportion of peacekeeping personnel still do not have a conceptual understanding of what gender



mainstreaming entails, nor have they grasped that it is about more than just hiring more women. That may explain in part why we have yet to institutionalise many of our gender mainstreaming strategies. Too often, it is individual commitment, rather than institutionalized mechanisms, that drives our work. We have also made limited progress in increasing the number of female personnel in peacekeeping, particularly in uniformed functions and in senior leadership positions. The perspectives of women are still not adequately harnessed to inform our planning and operational activities. Thus, whilst gender advisors hold regular consultations with women leaders and civil society organizations in peacekeeping missions, such consultations are not established practice for all mission components.

In recognition of those shortcomings, in March of this year I issued a policy statement on gender mainstreaming in peacekeeping that provides an operational framework at the field and Headquarters levels to implement resolution 1325 (2000). As part of that policy, and in line with the recommendation of the Council last year, my Department is currently finalizing a comprehensive action plan for the implementation of resolution 1325 (2000) that builds on the system-wide action plan that is before the Council today.

In renewing my Department's commitment to the implementation of Security Council resolution 1325 (2000), I intend to vigorously address these challenges in the coming years.

First, I will emphasize, more than I have done in the past, that the responsibility for implementing the resolution does not fall on the shoulders of our gender advisers alone, or solely on our female staff. All men and women, particularly at senior levels, at Headquarters and in the field, have responsibilities to implement the resolution.'

Jean-Marie Guéhenno in 2006 (from S/PV.5556)

'Notwithstanding those necessary and important foundation blocks, real gaps remain in our implementation of resolution 1325 (2000). In seeking to transform our working culture, there are undoubtedly pockets of resistance. We have made progress, but some of our personnel have yet to understand their own responsibility for implementation of resolution 1325 (2000)-that it is not the sole responsibility of gender advisers, nor can it be just outsourced to our United Nations partners. I also recognize the need to build a critical mass of male champions to advocate and support the translation of our commitments to gender equality into practice. In that regard, I believe that my department needs a senior male envoy to support our political advocacy efforts.'

Jean-Marie Guéhenno in 2007 (from S/PV.5766)

'The theme of today's debate is "Towards coherent and effective implementation of Security Council resolution 1325 (2005)". In the past seven years our strategy has been to focus on the implementation of the individual parts of the resolution. To that end, we have indeed made progress in the implementation of our responsibilities. I would suggest, however, that it is time to review that fragmented and disparate approach to the implementation of the resolution. We know that resolving conflict requires a multifaceted and interlinked approach. If we are therefore to empower women in that process, our efforts will also have to be integrated. Coherent and effective implementation first requires that we more fully understand the relationship between protection and empowerment in all their aspects, as set forth in the resolution, and that we understand how that affects the role and contribution of women to the maintenance of peace and security. Strategies must thereafter be developed that incorporate a range of mutually reinforcing and coordinated activities aimed at the full implementation of the resolution.'

Alain Le Roy in 2008 (from S/PV.6005)

'Finally, I would like to reiterate the full commitment of the Department of Peacekeeping Operations to cooperating with the Council as it oversees the implementation of resolution 1325 (2000) during the coming year. I strongly urge the Council to take women's participation and contributions to peace processes into account when it decides upon the mandates of peacekeeping missions, undertakes field visits, requests briefings from the leadership of peacekeeping missions, and reviews periodic reports from our missions. The commitment of Members will allow for enhanced opportunities for the exchange of views beyond this single annual gathering.'

other forms of sexual violence: and called upon all relevant UN missions and UN bodies to share all pertinent information about sexual violence with relevant Security Council sanctions committees, including through the sanctions committees' monitoring groups and groups of experts. This went much further than resolution 1325. The only explicit mention of sanctions in resolution 1325 was the Council's readiness, whenever measures were adopted under article 41 (i.e. sanctions regimes) to give consideration to their potential impact on the civilian population, bearing in mind the special needs of women and girls, in order to consider appropriate humanitarian exceptions.

DRC Sanctions Committee

The DRC was the first case where the Council included sexual violence among the criteria for designation by the Sanctions Committee for individually targeted measures. (Sanctions were first imposed in on the DRC in 2004 and the sanctions regime had been modified and strengthened in nine subsequent resolutions. Key amongst these is resolution 1807 (2008), adopted in March 2008 (i.e. three months before the adoption of resolution 1820), whereby the Council extended sanctions to perpetrators of serious human rights abuses involving the targeting of women and children in armed conflict, including killing or maiming, sexual violence, abduction and forced displacement.) This is one of six criteria for designation by the Sanctions Committee.

Despite the existence of resolutions providing these new criteria and the abundant evidence of violations, designations have been rare and very slow. The list of individuals and entities under DRC sanctions was last updated on 3 March 2009. It is surprising that, of the 26 individuals or entities on the list, no party is listed for perpetrating sexual violence against women. Three of the 26 parties are listed for violations related to sexual violence, but these are in the context of recruiting and using child soldiers: Leopold Mujyambere (Commander of the Second Division of FOCA/FDLR), Pacifique Ntawunguka (Commander of the First Division of FOCA/FDLR) and Stanislas Nzeyimana (Deputy Commander of FOCA) have been listed for using child soldiers, with evidence that the girls recovered from their groups had been abducted and sexually abused.

The latest substantive report of the Group of Experts on the DRC to the Council (S/2009/603), submitted 23 November 2009 lists current FARDC (i.e. government troops) commanders, including those deployed on joint operations with MONUC, that the DRC Sanctions Committee's Group of Experts had verified as having committed violations of human rights and humanitarian law. While the list is not exhaustive, of the 21 commanders listed four are cited to have either direct or command responsibility for sexual violence. They are: Colonel Mosala Jean Claude, Lieutenant Colonel Mahindule Wabo, Lieutenant Colonel Ndayambaje Kipanga and Major Pichen Lungu. To date none of these individuals have been added to the DRC sanctions list.

The Council has not authorised any other sanctions committee to use sexual violence against women or children as a specific criterion for designation. There is currently provision the Côte d'Ivoire Sanctions Committee to impose targeted measures against persons who are determined to be a threat to the peace and national reconciliation process in Côte d'Ivoire; and responsible for serious violations of human rights and international humanitarian law. No individual or entity currently listed under the sanctions regime for Côte d'Ivoire is listed for serious violations of human rights or international law.

12.2 Commissions of Inquiry

The Council can request the Secretary-General to establish independent commissions of inquiry (COI) into events of concern regarding possible violations of international humanitarian law and international human rights law. In the past decade the Council has done this on a few occasions.

For example, in May 2004 it asked the Secretary-General to establish an international commission of inquiry to investigate all human rights violations committed in Côte d'Ivoire since 19 September 2002 and determine responsibility. (That report was submitted in December 2004 but never made public). A second case was Darfur (request made in September 2004, report issued in January 2005).

Protests by a pro-democracy movement against the military government of Guinea in late August and September 2009, culminated in an attack by the military on a peaceful pro-democracy rally in a sports stadium in the capital, Conakry. Several national and international human rights organisations confirmed at least 157 deaths, thousands injured and worryingly a significant number of public rapes by the military.

In the case of Guinea, the Council supported the Secretary-General's decision to appoint a COI. The COI for Guinea was established on 16 October 2009, travelled to Guinea from 25 November to 4 December and the Secretary-General transmitted its final



Guinea: Composition of a Commission of Inquiry

Allegations against Guinean military included a significant number of rapes of women attending the pro-democracy demonstration in the stadium at Conakry. The skills and experience of the members of the Commission of Inquiry established by the Secretary-General seemed to recognise the importance of the gender dimension.

The members of the COI were:

- Mohammed Bedjaoui, an Algerian diplomat and jurist. Among other functions, he has served as minister for foreign affairs and as Algeria's ambassador to France and to the United Nations. He has also served as judge and president of the International Court of Justice and as president of Algeria's highest judicial authority, the Constitutional Council.
- Françoise Ngendahayo Kayiramirwa is a former minister of national solidarity, human rights and gender and former minister for repatriation and reintegration of IDPs, in Burundi. She has also served with the International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda as adviser on gender issues and assistance to victims.
- Pramila Patten, who is a barrister-atlaw in Mauritius, is a member of the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women. She is the author of several publications on violence against women and on the rights of the child.

report to the Security Council on 18 December 2009. Two members of the three person COI panel were wellregarded female experts in the field of gender and justice (see sidebar). The speed of the COI's work was impressive. The Council has yet to act on the Commission's recommendations, mainly due to several significant developments in Guinea's politics, including the appointment of the organiser of the 28 September 2009 demonstration as prime minister and the findings of a separate national COI, which recommended Guinean courts deal with the matter.

One of the key outstanding issues for the Council, in future situations where sexual violence or other violations against women is a factor, is how to act on the outcomes or recommendations of independent Commissions of Inquiry.

12.3 Referrals to the ICC

A key legal instrument for the Security Council is to refer situations to the International Criminal Court (assuming the alleged offences have taken place since the Rome Statute came into force in July 2002) when domestic legal systems are incapable or otherwise unlikely to prosecute the crimes. There are currently four situations before the ICC: Sudan, the Lord's Resistance Army (LRA)/Uganda, DRC and CAR. Preliminary investigations are ongoing into the post-election violence in Kenya in 2007 and the Conakry stadium attack. The DRC cases were referred by the DRC government in 2003.

The Deputy Prosecutor of the ICC, Fatou Bensouda, carried out a preliminary investigation into the 28 September 2009 events in Conakry, from 17-19 February 2010. She concluded her visit by stating that the killing of opposition supporters on 28 September 2009 and its aftermath constituted a crime against humanity and that the ICC could continue with its preliminary investigation.

Sexual violence features in all four country situations before the ICC. In three of the five cases against leaders of the LRA, including leader Joseph Kony and two of his co-accused, there are allegations of sexual enslavement, attempted sexual enslavement, rape and inducing of rape constituting war crimes.

One of the three cases in the situation in the DRC (incidents in Ituri from July 2002 to the end of 2003) involves sexual violence. The other two cases focus on the use of child soldiers. The trial of Germain Katanga and Mathieu Ngudjolo Chui, which commenced on 24 November 2009, involves charges of sexual slavery as a crime against humanity and sexual slavery and rape as a war crime.

13. DRC Case Study: An Opportunity for Action?

The DRC is a situation which has proved particularly challenging for the Council —both as it has sought to develop unprecedented strategies to deal with gender issues, in particular sexual violence, but also because of its hesitation, at times, about taking decisive action and failure to use all available tools it had created.

The conflict in the DRC that began in the aftermath of the 1994 Rwandan genocide has been ongoing. It has at different times pitted diverse rebel groups as well as various neighbouring countries' forces against the government. Currently, the combatants most active and most deadly in the DRC are members the rebel group Democratic Forces for the Liberation of Rwanda (FDLR), operating in the east of the country, though other areas are far from being conflict free, especially with the LRA having been active in the country since late 2008. Sexual violence has been rampant and widely used as a tactic of war.

Starting in 1999, the UN has deployed one of its largest and most costly peacekeeping operations. (At its peak in early 2010 the operation, then called MONUC, stood at over 20,000 military and police personnel with nearly 4,000 civilian staff and a cost of well over a billion dollars annually). In 2009, with the approaching fiftieth anniversary of the country's independence, DRC President Joseph Kabila indicated that he wanted the UN to begin drawing down its operation by the time of the anniversary in June 2010. Addressing these wishes of the host country, on 28 May 2010 the Council in resolution 1925 terminated MONUC as of 1 July. It is now renamed the UN Organisation Stabilisation Mission in the DRC, or MONUSCO. Protection of civilians (and protection from sexual violence) was a top priority for MONUC and this continues in the MONUSCO mandate.

The scale of atrocities committed against women throughout the various stages of the conflict in eastern DRC cannot be overstated. The Council has been made aware of the situation through numerous briefings (including by the High Commissioner for Human Rights in consultations in May 2007, and civil society representatives in an Arria format in December 2008), and through numerous reports, including from the Secretary-General, the Council's DRC Sanctions Committee Group of Experts, and other UN entities.

It is believed that over the past five years in some towns four out of five women have been raped. In 2009, two military campaigns, led by the Congolese army (FARDC) against FDLR in the east and LRA in the north, resulted in a dramatic increase in violence against civilians by all sides. The joint military operations conducted by Rwandan and Congolese military against the FDLR in 2009 were followed by deliberate and targeted retaliatory attacks by the FDLR on civilians. According to the UN Population Fund (UNFPA), which provides assistance to survivors of sexual violence in the DRC, in the first seven months of 2009 at least 2,500 civilians were massacred, and an estimated 7,000 cases of sexual violence against women and girls were registered at health centres across North and South Kivu. UNFPA estimates over 8,000 women were raped in 2009 in the provinces of North Kivu and South Kivu.

The attacks have continued in 2010. According to the UN High Commissioner for Refugees, during the year's first three months, 1,244 women were sexually assaulted throughout the country—an average of almost fourteen assaults each day.

A major atrocity took place over a four-day period from 30 July through 2 August when 200-400 armed men allegedly from FDLR and from the Mai Mai tribal militia raided some 13 villages in North Kivu Province's Walikale region and committed mass rape. At press time, humanitarian sources were reporting that 303 rape survivors had been treated.

In addition to its gravity, this event seems an important case study in its own right demonstrating the failure of several mechanisms established by the Council specifically to prevent or mitigate atrocities of this kind:

- The Council-established operation MONUSCO, whose top priority is protection of civilians, with particular emphasis on prevention of sexual violence, was deployed in the area but seems to have been unable to play any role in preventing, stopping or quickly investigating the abuse.
- The mission failed to publicise the events for several weeks after they occurred. There are indications that MONUSCO elements knew of the presence of FDLR and likely attacks as early as 30 July. Rape victims started coming forward to medical centres for treatment from 5 August. initial official statements. In MONUSCO stated it was notified on 12 August. Yet first public reports did not emerge until the weekend of 21-22 August. The Council was officially informed of the events on 23 August through the UN media spokesman.
- The events in the Walikale region could have been the first road test for the newly appointed and Councilmandated Special Representative for Sexual Violence in Conflict. Margot Wallström was appointed to the job on 2 February and indicated she would make the DRC a top priority. She visited the country on her first field trip in April. Yet, according to her statement to the press on 31 August, she clearly failed in that mission to impress upon the actors in the field the relevance or utility of her role. The events were never communicated to her office and she first learned of them from the media. The fact that the senior UN official with a mandate on sexual violence was entirely out of the loop suggests a major failure at both ends.
- The Council itself also learned about



the events with considerable delay and via media on 22 August and statements made by the Secretary-General's spokesman in response to questions from the media on 23 August. This is a worrying repeat of the way in which the Council was caught flat-footed and unsighted of events when major fighting broke out in the DRC in late 2008 and suggests that all the initiatives to improve oversight of peacekeeping that followed the 2008-2009 debacle are yet to yield fruit. The Secretary-General, who issued a statement condemning the rapes on 24 August, used the occasion of the 25 August Somalia debate to inform the Council of the events and the steps he was taking. On 26 August the Council issued a press statement in which it expressed outrage at the events and its desire for a briefing from an investigative mission being dispatched by the Secretary-General.

- On 7 September, Assistant Secretary-General for Peacekeeping Atul Khare briefed the Council on his investigative trip, which included travel to Kinshasa and the Walikale region. MONUSCO's Khare outlined response to the attacks and plans to change its future approach. Khare said MONUSCO had failed in its mission to protect civilians and it must do better. Among specific recommendations he put forward, he urged the Council to use sanctions against perpetrators and/or their commanders. (Wallström also briefed the Council on 7 September.)
- On 17 September the Council adopted a presidential statement in response to Khare's briefing. The Council noted DPKO's recommendations and reiterated its support for Wallström's office, requesting a

briefing from her following her upcoming trip to the DRC.

The DRC has probably been the countryspecific situation where the Council has paid most attention to gender-based violence in the past few years.

- Since 2007 almost all its resolutions (nine out of 11) had references to women, peace and security, focused on the issue of sexual violence;
- DRC is the only situation where the Secretary-General's reports consistently include a separate section on sexual violence; and
- Nearly three months before adopting resolution 1820, in its March 2008 resolution 1807 on sanctions in the DRC, the Council added acts of sexual violence to the criteria for imposing individually targeted sanctions.

In principle, the Council seems to have done all the right things to address a known risk and, along with establishing the mandate of the Special Representative on Sexual Violence in Conflict, had given itself a full range of tools. But the results are disappointing.

An explanation may lay in the phenomenon identified above when analysing the overall Council approach to women, peace and security, which is the lack of consistent and coordinated leadership and focused attention to this issue exacerbated by the way many delegations structure their policy input on this issue, separating gender issues from country-specific concerns or related thematic issues such as protection of civilians. Council attention seems to go in and out of focus.

Another example of this phenomenon can be seen in the context of the Council mission to the DRC in 2009. The Council adopted a series of resolutions highlighting sexual violence in the DRC. But when it went to the DRC in 2009, it initially had no specific plans to address the issue. It was only after visiting rape victims in a Goma hospital that members on the spot decided to raise five cases of alleged perpetrators still within the country's military command structures with the country's top leaders the next day in Kinshasa.

Another such indicator can be seen in the fact that, although the Council, in 2008 in a groundbreaking move, had added sexual violence in the DRC as a criterion for individually targeted sanctions, more than two years later and despite its Group of Experts having identified names of several individuals who had committed sexual crimes in its reports, only four individuals had been added to the list and these were added under another criterion, primarily because they had simultaneously also recruited child soldiers.

Another indicator of attention and focus can be seen in terms of the Council's interactions with Special Representatives. In 2006, the Council had signalled its desire to have dialogues with all the newly appointed Special Representatives. After the difficulties in 2008-2009 then Special Representative Alan Doss copped a great deal of informal criticism. Recent events suggest that his successor Roger Meece is also struggling to establish leadership. Yet the Council missed a critical opportunity in mid-2010 to impress strongly its sense of priorities on the newly appointed Meece who spent several days at UN Headquarters prior to deploying. The Council as a whole did not meet him during his time in New York and missed the opportunity to sensitise him to the complex gender violence issues and to the fact that the matter was a top priority for the Council.

There are indications that when the Council does show resolve, results follow. After bringing up the five names with the Kinshasa authorities in 2009, all five were relieved of their posts and most were arrested. A few weeks later. President Kabila announced a zero tolerance policy on sexual violence. When the Council visited Kinshasa in May 2010, it was informed that judicial proceedings had been initiated against three of the five, including a general, who had been arrested and was being held in Kinshasa central prison and that trials in absentia were being considered for two officers, who had absconded. Given the scale of the problem, sending the right messages on a consistent basis seems essential. Sustained attention and persistence on the part of the Council could probably produce more results. But important changes to Council working methods may be necessary to achieve this.

14. Council Dynamics

14.1 Past Dynamic

Elected Council members have played a prominent role in driving the dynamics on women, peace and security within the Council, often leading on the specific language in the different thematic decisions as well as promoting initiatives on how gender perspectives would be considered in country-specific situations. As a result the overall Council dynamics on this issue have varied considerably depending upon the composition of the Council. A range of elected members, including both 'champions' and 'spoilers', have often determined the extent to which in practice this issue has been reflected in Council decisions. It has been noted by many within and outside

the Council that women, peace and security has at times suffered through lack of a consistent 'champion'.

The P5 have also played a key role. As noted in the section on the history of resolution 1325 there was resistance at the outset from all five permanent members about the idea of women, peace and security becoming a separate agenda item amongst a range of increasing thematic agendas. Women, peace and security was considered a 'soft' topic, without the action-oriented focus of related themes of preventing the recruitment of child soldiers and protection of civilian populations in armed conflict.

Russia and China raised procedural objections, saying that they were supportive of the concept in general, but that gender equality was not the business of the Security Council. Rather it should be dealt with by other UN organs, such ECOSOC or the General Assembly. In the end, however, they supported the adoption of resolution 1325. But both Russia and China subsequently emphasised that the role of national authorities should take prominence in follow-up and implementation of the resolution-perhaps with support from UN funds and programmes. In addition the Russian and Chinese delegations have been vigilant about ensuring that all language proposed with regard to women, peace and security was directly relevant to the Council's mandate. Both delegations preferred that language on this thematic issue stayed in thematic resolutions and did not enter into country-specific decisions.

In the early years the US delegation also took a conservative approach to references to women, peace and security. The US delegation started to pay closer attention to the gender dimension of conflicts from around 2006, particularly in light of the emerging reports of violence against women in Darfur, Sudan.

The UK and France were quicker to warm to resolution 1325. This was evident in the innovative approach taken by the UK president of the Council in July 2002 to host a genuinely interactive open debate to discuss the preliminary outcomes of the first Secretary-General's report on the impact of armed conflict on women. The UK was also the first Council president to get the Council to agree to a representative of a women's NGO addressing the Council at a formal meeting on this topic in October 2004. The commitment from the UK, supported by elected members including Cameroon, Chile, Guinea and Mexico resulted in an increase in 2003 of references in Council decisions to women, peace and security elements. From 2003 more and more resolutions saw references to the 'importance of a gender perspective in peacekeeping operations and post-conflict peacebuilding'. From 2003 it became practice to include such language when new peace operation mandates were established.

After 2003, as the atmosphere in the Council became more tense and as the composition of the Council shifted, it seems that it became harder to garner the political will to discuss women, peace and security across the Council agenda and this in turn resulted in a focus only on the annual 'anniversary' debate. This probably contributed to the decrease in references to women in relevant resolutions after 2003, outside resolutions launching new peace operation mandates. The reduction in



political will was reinforced by a series of Secretary-General's reports on the subject that focused on bureaucratic aspects rather than the relevance of the theme to specific situations on the Council agenda.

In 2005, the fifth anniversary of 1325 saw a flurry of 'anniversary' activities. For example, the World Summit outcome document reinforced the importance of implementing 1325. However, in the Council the fifth anniversary saw no significant change to Council dynamics.

By 2006 the Council had settled into a relatively comfortable low key approach to women, peace and security. New mandates included language on the importance of 'mainstreaming gender' across all aspects of the mandate and a few lines about the importance of protecting women (and children, usually in terms of 'and other vulnerable groups'). Occasionally the Council responded to particular points highlighted in Secretary-General's reports on specific country situations, usually prompted by particularly serious gender-based violence. But, on the whole, in resolutions it was seen as sufficient to have a preambular reference, plus a 'gender paragraph' as the full extent of gender references. These paragraphs became standard language and were rarely negotiated at length.

Discussions leading up to each year's annual resolution 1325 open debate was usually led by 'gender experts', often from the missions' delegations to the Third Committee of the General Assembly. These delegates would usually negotiate the annual presidential statement on women, peace and security in response to the annual Secretary-General's report on the Secretariat's implementation of 1325. This allocation of duties seemed to result in a 'split-personality' approach by the Council to women, peace and security, whereby on one day the Council might put out a well-informed thematic statement on the importance of women's participation in the full range of peace activities, followed the next day by a resolution or presidential statement on a closely related thematic topic (for example the UN's role in mediation) without a single reference to women's participation.

Through this period, the UK and France became steadily more supportive of including language on women in country-specific and thematic resolutions. While their preferred approach was for an elected member to raise the topic in negotiations, once raised both would support including the reference. If an elected member did not raise gender language in relevant situations, then the UK or France would often do so.

While the Council was not particularly engaged on women, peace and security prior to 2007 that is not to say that there were no champions of resolution 1325 during these years. Argentina and Denmark were both strongly committed advocates for gender issues during their time on the Council in 2005-2006, actively seeking to introduce more specific language on women into country-specific resolutions. Other supporters in preceding years included Japan, Ireland, Norway, Singapore, Colombia, Cameroon, Mexico, Guinea, Chile and Tanzania.

Ongoing reluctance came from the US, Russia and China. However, it was rare that this resistance from permanent members came in isolation. Often countries such as Qatar (2006-2007) took the lead on questioning the

relevance of references to women. peace and security-which was then backed by some of the P5. While Western and Latin countries consistently raised the importance of including resolution 1325 references, these efforts were most likely to succeed when they had the backing of a member of another group, in particular Africa. Ghana, during its membership in 2006-2007, was often supportive of mentioning resolution 1325. We should note that Ghana continued to be active on this issue after it left the Council, working closely with UNIFEM on determining good practices on the implementation of resolution 1325 in West Africa.

The dynamics began to shift rather more in 2007. There was an increase in the number of references to women, peace and security in Council decisions. Elected members at the time, Italy and Belgium took a lead. Especially important was the support of South Africa, bolstering the ongoing efforts of Ghana. Support from a broad range of geographic groups seemed to have a significant effect on softening opposition by Russia and China. Language which had been suggested before, but defeated, from 2007 stayed in resolutions.

South Africa had also made a point of raising this issue during its Council presidency in March 2007 and proposed a rare 'non-October' presidential statement on the occasion of International Women's Day.

However, efforts to include language on women, peace and security in specific situations continued to be controversial. Often suggested language was toned down during negotiations, even when the situation outlined by the Secretary-General in his reports suggested such references were highly relevant. An example was the negotiation on the mandate of UNMIN in Nepal in January 2007. The Secretary-General's report had estimated that 40 percent of combatants in the Maoist Army were women. It was therefore reasonable that a gender perspective would be particularly relevant in the implementation of the Comprehensive Peace Agreement (CPA) with respect to the demobilisation and reintegration of the Maoist Army into the Nepal National Army. Following lengthy negotiations on the language in the UNMIN mandate, the final resolution only made a passing reference in the preambular section to recognising the need to pay special attention to the needs of women and children in the peace process as mentioned in the CPA and resolution 1325. There was no mention of female combatants in the resolution (nor its subsequent renewals). Council members who participated in these negotiations observed that highlighting the issue of minors in the Maoist Army had been of much greater concern to Council members than women.

It is interesting to contrast the strong constituency within the Council during the same period for addressing the issue of children and armed conflict (exemplified by the formation of the working group on children and armed conflict in 2005) with the relative lack of support for gender issues.

Starting in 2007, the US shifted ground somewhat, taking a strong interest in the issue of sexual violence in conflict. In 2008 the US led negotiations to adopt what became resolution 1820, condemning the use of sexual violence against civilians as a tactic of war. The UK and France worked closely with the US on this initiative. But the negotiations on this resolution highlighted a divide in the Council's approach to implementing resolution 1325.

On the whole Council members supported the adoption of resolution 1820. There was, however, resistance to dividing resolution 1325 into constituent parts, by adopting a resolution that focused on only one aspect-protection of women against sexual violence. Russia, in particular, was reluctant to divide the protection of women's agenda into a single focus on sexual violence, rather than taking into account the full range of threats to women in conflict, which also included targeted killings or maiming. China considered that while sexual violence in conflict was of great concern, it was largely an issue for national authorities to handle. During the negotiations on 1820, the format of the Council's decision on this issue also became an issue. Russia and China argued that a presidential statement would be sufficient.

Also controversial was the proposal for a process to permit more systematic oversight by the Council of the issue of sexual violence, similar to the working group on children and armed conflict. This was not supported by Russia, China, Indonesia or Viet Nam, Others, such as Costa Rica, wanted the Council to focus more on highlighting existing legal mechanisms, such as the role of the ICC. Yet others felt that the Council should more directly indicate its willingness to adopt sanctions against perpetrators. All members agreed, however, that making a link between sexual violence and women's participation in peace processes was a priority.

The dynamic within a delegation and the allocation of duties between officers sometimes seems to be an important aspect which affects the overall dynamics. As mentioned above, in some delegations the officer responsible for gender issues is also responsible for human rights issues, covering Third Committee in the General Assembly rather than being part of the formal Council team within the mission. The impact of this tends to be less pronounced in smaller delegations but in larger ones this allocation of duties appears to affect how much attention is paid to the thematic issue of women, peace and security when addressing specific situations.

A less exaggerated divide can also occur when one officer is responsible for several thematic issues, such as women, peace and security; children and armed conflict; protection of civilians; and peacekeeping policy. While the thematic issues have significant overlaps and it makes sense to deal with them under one portfolio, this poses a challenge integrating thematic considerations into country-situation decisions.

The officer with gender in their portfolio must deliberately focus on informing their colleagues in the Security Council team on the relevance of considering gender issues in their country situations. It appears that country-specific officers at times forget to seek out this information on their own initiative. The impact of this is mitigated in delegations where officers have a balance of thematic and geographic issues in their portfolios. Political Coordinators within missions are not always involved in this aspect of internal coordination because in some cases the officer dealing with gender issues reports to the economic and social coordinator in the mission. Relatively junior officers in delegations sometimes end up being at odds with senior members of delegations, with



varying degrees of success. The lack of senior leadership on this issue may also explain the difficulty of consistently including gender issues in terms of reference for and reports from Council missions as these are often determined at ambassador-level.

14.2 Current Dynamic

Over the past two years the Council has been much more active on the thematic issue of women, peace and security. This activity has flowed also much more into the consideration of country-situations. There are currently few situations on the Council agenda that do not have specific language on women, peace and security in their mandate resolutions.

The US continues to be the lead country on sexual violence in conflict and is likely to take up this issue again during its presidency in December 2010, when the second Secretary-General's report on the implementation of 1820 is due. The UK is the lead country on women, peace and security overall. Uganda, as the Council president in October, will preside over the tenth anniversary open debate and is also very supportive. Uganda will lead negotiations on an outcome for the October debate that will take action on the two Secretary-General's reports requested in resolution 1889: an update on the implementation of 1325 (including a set of global indicators to track its implementation) and women and peacebuilding.

Russia and China are now much more supportive of 1325. They remain concerned that references in countryspecific situations are not included as 'token' efforts but are considered on a case-by-case basis for relevance. Both emphasise that there are no longer significant differences between Council members on this topic. Current elected members Austria. Mexico, Turkey and Japan are all very active on women, peace and security. Austria has folded this issue into its broader focus on rule of law and protection of civilians. Austria hosted a retreat at Alpbach, 4-5 September 2010, where Council members, UN Secretariat and civil society discussed protection issues, focusing on the Council's role with regard to implementing resolution 1325. Japan's peace and security priorities are on peacebuilding and post-conflict recovery and it considers gender considerations key to these areas.

However, overall, in country-specific negotiations, there is still a tendency within the Council country-specific experts, sometimes to see gender references as 'clip-ons' rather than elements integrated into a resolution with a range of other issues. Sometimes this results in the final stages of a negotiation in gender references being pared back or deleted to ensure a 'balanced' text.

The current negotiations on Council action on a set of indicators to track implementation of resolution 1325 prepared by the Secretariat in response

Impact of 1325: a Snapshot of Women in Peacekeeping

- There are currently five female heads of missions: BINUCA (CAR), UNMIL (Liberia), UNMIT (Timor-Leste), UNMIN (Nepal) and UNFICYP (Cyprus).
- There are current four female Deputy Special Representatives: MINURCAT (Chad/CAR), MONUSCO (DRC), UNMIL (Liberia) and UNAMI (Iraq).
- There are two all-female formedpolice units in UN peacekeeping operations in Liberia (from India) and Haiti (from Bangladesh).
- The first female UN Police Adviser— Swedish policewoman Ann-Marie Orler—was appointed in March 2010.
- There has never been a female force commander in a UN peacekeeping operation.
- Since the post was created at the end of 1997 there have been two Deputy Secretaries-General—Louise Fréchette of Canada was the first ever appointed and the current Asha-Rose Migiro of Tanzania.
- Of the 17 DPKO missions 11 have a dedicated gender adviser.

- UNIFEM has a field presence in 14 of the countries currently on the Council agenda.
- UNDP has a senior gender adviser in eight of the countries currently on the Council agenda.
- The UN has announced its intention to increase the number of women police officers deployed to 20 percent by 2014.
- UNAMID has 136 female police officers deployed (10.5 percent of the total force), mainly around camps for internally displaced persons.
- Out of 191 permanent representatives to the UN in New York, as of 7 September 2010, 24 or 12.5 percent are women.
- In 2010 three members of the Security Council—Brazil, Nigeria and the US—had female permanent representatives;
- In 65 sessions of the General Assembly there has only been one female president of the General Assembly (from Bahrain, during the 61st session in 2006-2007).

to resolution 1889 is focusing Council attention on its specific role in implementing resolution 1325. The Council is expected to take action on the indicators in October. (Please see our October *Monthly Forecast* for further detail of the specific dynamics in these negotiations.)

15. How Successful Has the Security Council Been in Making Women, Peace and Security a Cross-Cutting Issue?

There has been a significant increase in Council activity on women, peace and security in the last several years, including an increase in references to gender across the Council agenda. Despite these developments, it appears that the issue is still not yet fully 'mainstreamed' in the Council agenda. There has been erratic leadership within the Council and often limited priority is given to this issue by the senior levels of delegations. There seems to be a continuing level of scepticism—especially among those who do not work specifically on the gender portfolio—as to whether this issue is really relevant. The scepticism tends to be particularly pronounced with regards to the relevance of women's participation, such as their inclusion in peace processes (as opposed to the importance of protection issues).

When new Council members join the Council, or when new experts arrive in permanent delegations, there often tends to be a need for a renewed learning process as to why mainstreaming women, peace and security in a cross-cutting way into the various portfolios of country-specific issues is important.

16. The 2010 Anniversary and Related Events

As a result of requests for Secretary-General's reports in resolutions 1888 and 1889, as well as the request in a 2007 presidential statement, the Council was expecting a total of five Secretary-General's reports on women, peace and security by the end of 2010.

There have been or are expected a significant number of events involving Council members to mark the tenth anniversary of resolution 1325. It remains to be seen whether the Council will fatigue of this issue, or to the contrary, whether the anniversary will generate fresh energy and renewed commitment.

There are some strong supporters of women, peace and security on the current Council. Given the influence of elected members on the dynamic of this issue, many are also looking to next year's Council for potential champions.

Much of the future dynamics within the Council on this issue will depend on the approach the Council takes in October towards the indicators. There is an opportunity for the Council to take some decisions to adjust its working methods so as to be more effective on this issue and to ensure a more systematic approach to considering it across the Council's agenda. Many on the Council want to apply lessons from the Council's handling of children and armed conflict. Many agree that a more determined approach to leadership within the Council on the issue is required to overcome the inevitable backsliding that comes from regular membership changes.

The Council has asked for significantly more detailed information from the UN

system on instances of sexual violence. It now has an interlocutor on the issue following the appointment in early 2010 of Margot Wallström as Special Representative for Sexual Violence in Conflict. The next few years will prove if there is willingness in the Council to follow up on the language of resolution 1888 and consider applying sanctions to known perpetrators of sexual violence. The Council's response to the latest incidents of sexual violence in the DRC will be a key test in the immediate future.

The Council will also be closely following the set-up of a new UN gender entity-UN Women-in January 2011. The Council has already signalled its readiness to consider reviewing the mandate of the Special Representative for Sexual Violence and Conflict after two years in light of the functions of UN Women because it is widely acknowledged that it will be several years before UN Women is properly established and can play all the envisaged roles. Currently the Council benefits greatly, in its consideration of children and armed conflict, from the information it receives from the range of UN actors in the field covering the issue, including UNICEF and UNDP, and their relationship with the Special Representative for Children and Armed Conflict. It is less clear at this stage how UN Women will work in the field or act in a similar way as a point of coordination on women, peace and security issues. It is likely that UN Women will never have the resources or reach of UNICEF.

Institutional and financial support for the Special Representative for Sexual Violence in Conflict is also an issue. Currently it is supported by the coalition of UN actors that form UN Action against Sexual Violence in Conflict. Funding for


the position will be considered by the General Assembly. It remains possible that the position will be funded through voluntary contributions (as was the Special Representative for Children and Armed Conflict at the outset). Consideration in the General Assembly may be complicated by the fact that the Security Council, rather than the General Assembly, requested the Secretary-General to establish the position (unlike the Special Representative for Children and Armed Conflict which was requested by the General Assembly). Ahead of General Assembly budgetary approval, Wallström's office is under-staffed and her capacity is limited.

The relationship between the Peacebuilding Commission and the Council with regard to women, peace and security is also an issue. Resolution 1889, and its request for a specific report from the Secretary-General on women and peacebuilding, seemed an effort to involve the PBC more on this issue. While the PBC is able to discuss specific country situations in significantly more detail and with a much wider scope than the Council, its current strict geographic scope and limited working methods to coordinate with the Council will limit its impact on this issue.

17. Selected UN Documents

Selected Security Council Resolutions Women, peace and security

- S/RES/1889 (5 October 2009) decided that women's protection and empowerment should be taken into account in post-conflict needs assessments and planning.
- S/RES/1888 (30 September 2009) strengthened UN system

structures to respond to sexual violence in conflict including requesting the Secretary-General to appoint a special representative on sexual violence in conflict.

- S/RES/1820 (19 June 2008) recognised that sexual violence when used as tactic of war can exacerbate situations of conflict and can impede the maintenance of international peace and security.
- S/RES/1325 (31 October 2000) recognised that conflict has a disproportionate impact on women and promoted women's participation in various peace and security processes and expressed willingness to incorporate a gender perspective in peacekeeping missions.

Selected other thematic resolutions mentioning women, peace and security

- S/RES/1894 (11 November 2009) was on the protection of civilians.
- S/RES/1674 (28 April 2006) was on the protection of civilians.
- S/RES/1645 (20 December 2005) was on post-conflict peacebuilding establishing the mandate and structures of the PBC.
- S/RES/1625 (14 September 2005) was on strengthening the effectiveness of the Council's role in conflict prevention, particularly in Africa.
- S/RES/1539 (22 April 2004) was on children and armed conflict.
- S/RES/1460 (30 January 2003) was on children and armed conflict.
- S/RES/1379 (20 November 2001) was on children and armed conflict.
- S/RES/1366 (30 August 2001) was on the role of the Council in the prevention of armed conflicts.
- S/RES/1327 (13 November 2000)

was on the implementation of the report of the Panel on UN Peace Operations (S/2000/809—the 'Brahimi Report').

- S/RES/1314 (11 August 2000) was on children and armed conflict.
- S/RES/1296 (19 April 2000) was on protection of civilians.
- S/RES/1265 (17 September 1999) was on protection of civilians.
- S/RES/1261 (30 August 1999) was on children and armed conflict.

Country situation resolutions mentioning women, peace and security

- S/RES/1936 (5 August 2010) renewed UNAMI's mandate in Iraq.
- S/RES/1935 (30 July 2010) renewed UNAMID's mandate in Darfur, Sudan.
- S/RES/1933 (30 June 2010) renewed UNOCI's mandate in Côte d'Ivoire.
- S/RES/1925 (28 May 2010) established MONUSCO's mandate in the DRC.
- S/RES/1923 (25 May 2010) renewed MINURCAT's mandate in Chad/CAR.
- S/RES/1921 (12 May 2010) renewed UNMIN's mandate in Nepal.
- S/RES/1919 (29 April 2010) renewed the UNMIS mandate in Sudan.
- S/RES/1917 (22 March 2010) renewed UNAMA's mandate in Afghanistan.
- S/RES/1912 (26 February 2010) renewed UNMIT's mandate in Timor-Leste
- S/RES/1906 (23 December 2009) renewed MONUC's mandate including a request to the head of mission to identify women's protection advisers.
- S/RES/1902 (17 December 2009)

renewed BINUB's mandate in Burundi.

- S/RES/1893 (29 October 2009) expanded the sanctions regime in Côte d'Ivoire to cover serious violations of human rights and international humanitarian law.
- S/RES/1892 (13 October 2009) renewed MINUSTAH's mandate in Haiti.
- S/RES/1886 (15 September 2009) renewed UNIPSIL's mandate in Sierra Leone.
- S/RES/1885 (15 September 2009) renewed UNMIL's mandate in Liberia.
- S/RES/1829 (4 August 2008) established UNIPSIL's mandate in Sierra Leone.
- S/RES/1807 (31 March 2008) was on the situation in the DRC whereby the Council extended sanctions to perpetrators of serious human rights abuses involving the targeting of women and children in armed conflict.
- S/RES/1801 (20 February 2008) was on the situation in Somalia.
- S/RES/1778 (25 September 2007) established MINURCAT's mandate in Chad/CAR.
- S/RES/1769 (31 July 2007) established UNAMID's mandate in Darfur, Sudan.
- S/RES/1740 (23 January 2007) established UNMIN's mandate in Nepal.
- S/RES/1719 (25 October 2006) established BINUB's mandate in Burundi.
- S/RES/1704 (25 August 2006) established the mandate of UNMIT in Timor-Leste.
- S/RES/1620 (31 August 2005) established UNIOSIL's mandate in Sierra Leone.

- S/RES/1542 (30 April 2004) established MINUSTAH's mandate in Haiti.
- S/RES/1533 (12 March 2004) established the current sanctions regime in the DRC
- S/RES/1528 (27 February 2004) established UNOCI's mandate in Côte d'Ivoire.
- S/RES/1509 (19 September 2003) established UNMIL's mandate in Liberia.
- S/RES/1500 (14 August 2003) established UNAMI's mandate in Iraq.
- S/RES/1496 (31 July 2003) renewed UNIFIL's mandate in Lebanon.
- S/RES/1493 (28 July 2003) was on the situation in the DRC calling upon MONUC to increase the deployment of women as military observers as one response to address the use of violence against women and children as a tool of warfare.
- S/RES/1479 (13 May 2003) established MINUCI's mandate in Côte d'Ivoire.
- S/RES/1401 (28 March 2002) established UNAMA's mandate in Afghanistan.
- S/RES/1590 (24 March 2005) established UNMIS' mandate in Sudan.
- S/RES/1545 (21 May 2004) established ONUB's mandate in Burundi.
- S/RES/1445 (4 December 2002) renewed the MONUC mandate in DRC.
- S/RES/1410 (17 May 2002) established UNMISET in East Timor.
- S/RES/1408 (6 May 2002) was on the situation in Liberia.
- S/RES/1378 (14 November 2001)

was on the situation in Afghanistan.

• S/RES/1370 (18 September 2001) was on the situation in Sierra Leone.

Reports of the Secretary-General

Women, peace and security

- S/2010/173 (6 April 2010)
- S/2009/465 (16 September 2009)
- S/2009/362 (15 July 2009) was the first report in response to resolution 1820.
- S/2008/622 (25 September 2008)
- S/2007/567 (12 September 2007)
- S/2006/770 (27 September 2006)
- S/2005/636 (10 October 2005)
- S/2004/814 (13 October 2004)
- S/2002/1154 (16 October 2002) was the first report in response to resolution 1325

Country situations mentioning women, peace and security

- S/2010/335 (24 June 2010) was on developments in Guinea-Bissau and on the activities of the UN Integrated Peacebuilding Office in that country.
- S/2010/295 (10 June 2010) was on the situation in the Central African Republic and on the activities of the UN Integrated Peacebuilding Office in that country.
- S/2010/245 (20 May 2010) was on UNOCI in Côte d'Ivoire.
- S/2010/238 (11 May 2010) was on the Secretary-General's mission of good offices in Cyprus.
- S/2010/175 (6 April 2010) was on the situation concerning Western Sahara.
- S/2010/135 (15 March 2010) was on UNIPSIL in Sierra Leone.
- S/2010/88 (17 February 2010) was on UNMIL in Liberia.
- S/2010/85 (12 February 2010)

was on UNMIT in Timor-Leste.

- S/2009/611 (30 November 2009) was on BINUB in Burundi.
- S/2007/7 (9 January 2007) was on the situation in Nepal ahead of establishment of UNMIN mandate.

Other relevant reports

- A/63/364 (18 September 2008) was on 'Improvement of the Status of Women in the UN System' outlining efforts and impediments to gender equality in the UN System.
- A/61/318 (7 September 2006) was on 'Improvement of the Status of Women in the UN System' outlining efforts and impediments to gender equality in the UN System.
- A/55/341 (30 August 2000) was the Secretary-General's report on the outcomes of the 23rd Special Session of the General Assembly, 5-10 June 2000, entitled 'Women 2000: gender equality, development and peace for the twenty-first century'.
- A/49/587 (1 November 1994) contains the Secretary-General's action plan for gender equality by 2000.

Report of Sanctions Group of Experts

 S/2009/603 (23 November 2009) was the report of the Group of Experts on the DRC listing current FARDC commanders verified as having committed violations of human rights and humanitarian law.

Reports of Commissions of Inquiry

- S/2009/693 (18 December 2009) was on events that occurred in Guinea on 28 September 2009.
- S/2005/60 (31 January 2005) was on the situation in Darfur.

Presidential Statements

Women, peace and security

- S/PRST/2010/8 (27 April 2010) requested the Secretary-General to undertake more consultation on the global indicators to implement resolution 1325.
- S/PRST/2008/39 (29 October 2008) followed the open debate on women, peace and security and reinforced aspects of resolution 1325.
- S/PRST/2007/40 (24 October 2007) sought a report in 2010 on the implementation of the 2008-2009 UN System Action-Plan to implement resolution 1325.
- S/PRST/2007/5 (7 March 2007) was on women, peace and security on the occasion of International Women's Day.
- S/PRST/2006/42 (26 October 2006) reiterated aspects of resolution 1325 and asked the Secretary-General to report in 12 months on implementation of his Action Plan to implement resolution 1325.
- S/PRST/2005/52 (27 October 2005) reiterated aspects of resolution 1325 on the occasion of the fifth anniversary of the resolution.
- S/PRST/2004/40 (28 October 2004) welcomed the Secretary-General's report on the implementation of 1325 by the UN system and reiterated aspects of resolution 1325.
- S/PRST/2002/32 (31 October 2002) responded to the first Secretary-General's report on the impact of conflict on women and girls.

Selected thematic and countryspecific statements mentioning women, peace and security

SECURITY COUNCIL REPORT CROSS-CUTTING REPORT

- S/PRST/2010/17 (17 September 2010) was on the situation in the DRC regarding mass rape in late July and early August.
- S/PRST/2010/3 (16 February 2010) was on the situation in Guinea.
- S/PRST/2000/25 (20 July 2000) was on the role of the Council in the prevention of armed conflicts.
- S/PRST/2000/10 (23 March 2000) was on post-conflict peacebuilding.
- S/PRST/2000/7 (9 March 2000) was on humanitarian aspects of issues before the Council.

Security Council Visiting Mission Reports

- S/2010/288 (30 June 2010) was the report of the Security Council mission to the DRC (13 to 16 May 2010).
- S/2009/303 (11 June 2009) was the report of the Security Council mission to the AU; Rwanda and the DRC; and Liberia.
- S/2008/460 (15 July 2008) was the report of the Security Council mission to Djibouti (on Somalia), the Sudan, Chad, the DRC and Côte d'Ivoire (31 May to 10 June 2008).
- S/2007/421 (11 July 2007) was the report of the Security Council mission to Addis Ababa, Khartoum, Accra, Abidjan and Kinshasa (14-21 June 2007).
- S/2006/434 (22 June 2006) was the report of the Security Council mission on the electoral process in the DRC (10-12 June 2006).
- S/2006/433 (22 June 2006) was the report of the Security Council mission to the Sudan and Chad

(4 to 10 June 2006).

- S/2005/716 (14 November 2005) was the report of the Security Council mission to Central Africa (4 to 11 November 2005).
- S/2005/302 (6 May 2005) was the report of the Security Council mission to Haiti (13 to 16 April 2005).
- S/2004/525 (2 July 2004) was the report of the Security Council mission to West Africa (20-29 June 2004).
- S/2003/1074 (11 November 2003) was the report of the Security Council mission to Afghanistan (31 October to 7 November 2003).
- S/2003/653 (17 June 2003) was the report of the Security Council mission to Central Africa (7 to 16 June 2003).
- S/2002/1376 (19 December 2002) was the report of the Security Council mission to Kosovo and Belgrade, Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (14 to 17 December 2002).
- S/2002/537 (13 May 2002) was the report of the Security Council mission to the Great Lakes region (27 April to 7 May 2002).
- S/2002/205 (27 February 2002) was the report of the Security Council mission to Ethiopia and Eritrea (21 to 25 February 2002).
- S/2001/600 (19 June 2001) was the report of the Security Council mission on the implementation of Security Council resolution 1244 (1999) (16 to 18 June 2001).
- S/2001/521 (29 May 2001) was the report of the Security Council mission to the Great Lakes region (15 to 26 May 2001).

Security Council Debates

Women, peace and security

- S/PV.6302 (27 April 2010)
- S/PV.6196 and Res.1 (5 October 2009)
- S/PV.6195 (30 September 2009)
- S/PV.6005 and Res.1 (29 October 2008)
- S/PV.5916 and Res.1 (19 June 2008)
- S/PV.5766 and Res.1 (23 October 2007)
- S/PV.5556 and Res.1 (26 October 2006)
- S/PV.5294 and Res.1 (27 October 2005)
- S/PV.5066 and Res.1 (28 October 2004)
- S/PV.4852 and Res.1 (29 October 2003)
- S/PV.4635 and Res.1 (28-29 October 2002)
- S/PV.4589 and Res.1 (25 July 2002)
- S/PV.4208 and Res.1 and Res.2 (24-25 October 2000)

Other debate relevant to women, peace and security

 S/PV.6378 (7 September 2010) was the briefing by the DPKO on the UN's response to reports of sexual violence in the Eastern DRC.

General Assembly Resolutions

- A/RES/63/311 (14 September 2009) was on system-wide UN coherence containing a decision to establish a new gender entity combining four existing UN entities into one—UN Women.
- A/RES/62/134 (18 December 2007) was on 'eliminating rape and other forms of sexual violence in all their manifestations, including in conflict and related situations'.

 A/RES/60/1 (24 October 2005) was the World Summit outcome document.

Selected Letters

- S/2010/62 (2 February 2010) was from the Secretary-General informing the Council of his intention to appoint Margot Wallström as his Special Representative on Sexual Violence in Conflict.
- S/2008/402 (16 June 2008) was from the representatives of the UK and Canada on the Wilton Park conference 'Women targeted or affected by armed conflict: what role for military peacekeepers?'.
- S/2007/607 (17 October 2007) was from the representative of South Africa on the Africa Regional meeting on gender justice.
- S/2006/848 (23 October 2006) was from the representatives of Liberia and Sweden on the high-level meeting on gender justice in Liberia.
- S/2005/669 (24 October 2005) was from the representative of Sweden on the High-Level meeting on 'building partnerships for promoting gender justice in post-conflict societies'.
- S/2004/862 (25 October 2004) was from the representatives of Jordan, South Africa, Sweden and the UK on the Conference on Gender Justice in Post-Conflict Situations.
- S/2002/1408 (9 December 2002) was from the representatives of Chile and Denmark on the biregional conference on the role of women in peacekeeping operations.

- S/2001/1155 (4 December 2001) was from the representative of the DRC on the Subregional Conference on the Protection of Women and Children in Armed Conflict in Central Africa.
- S/2000/693 (12 July 2000) was from the representative of Namibia containing the Windhoek Declaration and Namibia Plan of Action on 'Mainstreaming a Gender Perspective in Multidimensional Peace Support Operations'.

Other

- SC/6816 (8 March 2000) was the Council press statement issued on International Women's Day highlighted the importance of women's full participation in all efforts for the prevention and resolution of conflicts.
- A/CONF.177/20/Rev.1 (1996) was the Report of the Fourth World Conference on Women, including the 1995 Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action which identified the importance of increased participation of women in conflict resolution.

18. Useful Additional Resources

- UNIFEM information portal on resolution 1325 www.womenwarpeace.org
- NGO Working Group on Women, Peace and Security www.womenpeacesecurity.org
- UN Action against Sexual Violence in Conflict www.stoprapenow.org
- The Greatest Silence: Rape in the Congo www.thegreatestsilence.org
- Mainstreaming a Gender Perspective in Multidimensional Peace Operations,

Lessons Learned Unit, DPKO, United Nations, July 2000

 UN System-wide Action Plan for the Implementation of Resolution 1325 (2008-2009)

Annex I: Text of Resolutions 1325 and 1820

Resolution 1325

In the preambular paragraphs of resolution 1325 the Council:

- recalls its most recent resolutions on Protection of Civilians (resolutions 1261, 1265 and 1296) and Children and Armed Conflict (resolution 1314) and recalls the press statement delivered by Ambassador Chowdury on 8 March;
- recalls the commitments, particularly those concerning women and armed conflict, of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action and the outcome document of the 23rd Special Session of the General Assembly;
- bears in mind the purposes and principles of the Charter of the UN and the primary responsibility of the Council under the Charter for the maintenance of international peace and security;
- expresses concern that civilians, particularly women and children, account for the vast majority of those affected by armed conflict, including as refugees and internally displaced persons, and increasingly are targeted by combatants and armed elements, recognising the consequent impact this has on durable peace and reconciliation;
- reaffirms the important role of women in the prevention and resolution of conflicts and in peacebuilding, and stresses the importance of their equal

participation and full involvement in all efforts for the maintenance and promotion of peace and security, and the need to increase their role in decision-making with regard to conflict prevention and resolution;

SECURITY COUNCIL REPORT CROSS-CUTTING REPORT

- reaffirms the need to implement fully international humanitarian and human rights law that protects the rights of women and girls during and after conflicts;
- emphasises the need for all parties to ensure that mine clearance and mine awareness programmes take into account the special needs of women and girls;
- recognises the urgent need to mainstream a gender perspective into peacekeeping operations, noting the Windhoek Declaration;
- recognises the importance of the recommendation contained in its president's 8 March 2000 press statement for specialised training for all peacekeeping personnel on the protection, special needs and human rights of women and children in conflict situations;
- recognises that an understanding of the impact of armed conflict on women and girls, effective institutional arrangements to guarantee their protection and full participation in the peace process can significantly contribute to the maintenance and promotion of international peace and security; and
- notes the need to consolidate data on the impact of armed conflict on women and girls.

Operative Paragraph	Addressed to
 Urges Member States to ensure increased representation of women at all decision-making levels in national, regional and international institutions and mechanisms for the prevention, management, and resolution of conflict; 	Member States
2. <i>Encourages</i> the Secretary-General to implement his strategic plan of action (A/49/587) calling for an increase in the participation of women at decision-making levels in conflict resolution and peace processes;	Secretary-General
[A/49/587 was released in 1994 and, <i>inter alia</i> , calls for complete parity between numbers of men and women in the Secretariat by 2000]	
3. Urges the Secretary-General to appoint more women as special representatives and envoys to pursue good offices on his behalf, and in this regard <i>calls on</i> Member States to provide candidates to the Secretary-General, for inclusion in a regularly updated centralized roster;	Secretary-General Member States
4. Further urges the Secretary-General to expand the role and contribution of women in United Nations field-based operations, and especially among military observers, civilian police, human rights and humanitarian personnel;	Secretary-General
5. <i>Expresses</i> its willingness to incorporate a gender perspective into peacekeeping operations, and <i>urges</i> the Secretary-General to ensure that, where appropriate, field operations include a gender component;	Security Council Secretary-General
6. <i>Requests</i> the Secretary-General to provide Member States training guidelines and materials on the protection, rights and the particular needs of women, as well as on the importance of involving women in all peacekeeping and peacebuilding measures, <i>invites</i> Member States to incorporate these elements as well as HIV/AIDS awareness training into their national training programmes for military and civilian police personnel in preparation for deployment, and <i>further requests</i> the Secretary-General to ensure that civilian personnel of peacekeeping operations receive similar training;	Secretary-General Member States
7. Urges member states to increase their voluntary financial, technical and logistical support for gender- sensitive training efforts, including those undertaken by relevant funds and programmes, inter alia, the United Nations Fund for Women and United Nations Children's Fund, and by the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees and other relevant bodies;	Member States
 8. Calls on all actors involved, when negotiating and implementing peace agreements, to adopt a gender perspective, including, inter alia: (a) The special needs of women and girls during repatriation and resettlement and for rehabilitation, reintegration and post-conflict reconstruction; 	All actors involved in negotiating and implement- ing peace agreements
(b) Measures that support local women's peace initiatives and indigenous processes for conflict resolution, and that involve women in all of the implementation mechanisms of the peace agreements;	
(c) Measures that ensure the protection of and respect for human rights of women and girls, particularly as they relate to the constitution, the electoral system, the police and the judiciary;	
9. <i>Calls upon</i> all parties to armed conflict to respect fully international law applicable to the rights and protec- tion of women and girls, especially as civilians, in particular the obligations applicable to them under the Geneva Conventions of 1949 and the Additional Protocols thereto of 1977, the Refugee Convention of 1951 and the Protocol thereto of 1967, the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women of 1979 and the Optional Protocols thereto of 1999 and the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child in 1989 and the two Optional Protocols thereto of 25 May 2000, and to bear in mind the relevant pro- visions of the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court; [Note: The Rome Statute came into force July 2002]	All parties to armed conflict
10. <i>Calls on</i> all parties to armed conflict to take special measures to protect women and girls from gender-	All parties to armed conflict
based violence, particularly rape and other forms of sexual abuse, and all other forms of violence in situations of armed conflict;	
11. <i>Emphasizes</i> the responsibility of all States to put an end to impunity and to prosecute those responsible for genocide, crimes against humanity, and war crimes including those relating to sexual and other violence against women and girls, and in this regard <i>stresses</i> the need to exclude these crimes, where feasible from amnesty provisions;	All States



Operative Paragraph	Addressed to
12. <i>Calls upon</i> all parties to armed conflict to respect the civilian and humanitarian character of refugee camps and settlements, and to take into account the particular needs of women and girls, including in their design, and recalls its resolutions 1208 (1998) of 19 November 1998 and 1296 (2000) of 19 April 2000;	All parties to armed conflict
13. <i>Encourages</i> all those involved in the planning for disarmament, demobilization and reintegration to consider the different needs of female and male ex-combatants and to take into account the needs of their dependants;	All those involved in the planning for disarmament, demobilisation and reinte- gration
14. <i>Reaffirms</i> its readiness, whenever measures are adopted under Article 41 of the Charter of the United Nations, to give consideration to their potential impact on the civilian population, bearing in mind the special needs of women and girls, in order to consider appropriate humanitarian exemptions;	Security Council
15. <i>Expresses</i> its willingness to ensure Security Council missions take into account gender considerations and the rights of women, including through consultation with local and international women's groups;	Security Council
16. <i>Invites</i> the Secretary-General to carry out a study on the impact of armed conflict on women and girls, the role of women in peace-building and the gender dimensions of peace processes and conflict resolution, and further invites him to submit a report to the Security Council on the results of this study and to make this available to all Member States of the United Nations;	Secretary-General
17. <i>Requests</i> the Secretary-General, where appropriate, to include in his reporting to the Security Council progress on gender mainstreaming throughout peacekeeping missions and all other aspects relating to women and girls;	Secretary-General
18. Decides to remain actively seized of the matter.	Security Council

Resolution 1820

In the preambular paragraphs of resolution 1820 the Council:

- reaffirms its commitment to the continuing and full implementation of resolutions 1325, 1612 (on Children and Armed Conflict) and 1674 (on Protection of Civilians) and recalls its seven presidential statements on women peace and security;
- guided by the purposes and principles of the Charter of the UN;
- reaffirms the resolve expressed in the World Summit Outcome Document to eliminate all forms of violence against women and girls, including by ending impunity and by ensuring the protection of civilians, in particular women and girls, during and after armed conflicts, in accordance with the obligations States have undertaken under international humanitarian law and international human rights law;
- recalls the commitments of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for

Action as well as those contained in the outcome document of the 23rd Special Session of the General Assembly, in particular those concerning sexual violence and women in situations of armed conflict;

- reaffirms the obligations of States Parties to CEDAW, the Optional Protocol thereto, the Convention on the Rights of the Child and the Optional Protocols thereto, and urges states that have not yet done so to consider ratifying or acceding to them;
- notes that civilians account for the vast majority of those adversely affected by armed conflict; that women and girls are particularly targeted by the use of sexual violence, including as a tactic of war to humiliate, dominate, instil fear in, disperse and/or forcibly relocate civilian members of a community or ethnic group; and that sexual violence perpetrated in this manner may in some instances persist after the cessation of hostilities;

- recalls its condemnation in the strongest terms of all sexual and other forms of violence committed against civilians in armed conflict, in particular women and children;
- reiterates deep concern that, despite its repeated condemnation of violence against women and children in situations of armed conflict, including sexual violence in situations of armed conflict, and despite its calls addressed to all parties to armed conflict for the cessation of such acts with immediate effect, such acts continue to occur, and in some situations have become systematic and widespread, reaching appalling levels of brutality;
- recalls the inclusion of a range of sexual violence offences in the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court and the statutes of the ad hoc international criminal tribunals;
- reaffirms the important role of women in the prevention and resolution of conflicts and in peacebuilding, and

stresses the importance of their equal participation and full involvement in all efforts for the maintenance and promotion of peace and security, and the need to increase their role in decision-making with regard to conflict prevention and resolution;

is deeply concerned also about the persistent obstacles and challenges to women's participation and full involvement in the prevention and resolution of conflicts as a result of violence, intimidation and discrimination, which erode women's capacity and legitimacy to participate in postconflict public life, and acknowledges the negative impact this has on durable peace, security and reconciliation, including post-conflict peacebuilding;

- recognises that states bear primary responsibility to respect and ensure the human rights of their citizens, as well as all individuals within their territory as provided for by relevant international law;
- reaffirms that parties to armed conflict bear the primary responsibility to take all feasible steps to ensure the

protection of affected civilians; and

welcomes the ongoing coordination of efforts within the UN system, marked by the inter-agency initiative 'UN Action Against Sexual Violence in Conflict', to create awareness about sexual violence in armed conflicts and post-conflict situations and, ultimately, to put an end to it

In the operative paragraphs of resolution 1820, the Council:

Operative Paragraph	Addressed to
1. <i>Stresses</i> that sexual violence, when used or commissioned as a tactic of war in order to deliberately target civilians or as a part of a widespread or systematic attack against civilian populations, can significantly exacerbate situations of armed conflict and may impede the restoration of international peace and security, <i>affirms</i> in this regard that effective steps to prevent and respond to such acts of sexual violence can significantly contribute to the maintenance of international peace and security, and <i>expresses its readiness</i> , when considering situations on the agenda of the Council, to, where necessary, adopt appropriate steps to address widespread or systematic sexual violence;	Security Council
2. Demands the immediate and complete cessation by all parties to armed conflict of all acts of sexual violence against civilians with immediate effect;	All parties to armed conflict
3. <i>Demands</i> that all parties to armed conflict immediately take appropriate measures to protect civilians, including women and girls, from all forms of sexual violence, which could include, inter alia, enforcing appropriate military disciplinary measures and upholding the principle of command responsibility, training troops on the categorical prohibition of all forms of sexual violence against civilians, debunking myths that fuel sexual violence, vetting armed and security forces to take into account past actions of rape and other forms of sexual violence, and evacuation of women and children under imminent threat of sexual violence to safety; and <i>requests</i> the Secretary-General, where appropriate, to encourage dialogue to address this issue in the context of the broader discussions of conflict resolution between appropriate UN officials and the parties to the conflict, taking into account, inter alia, the views expressed by women of affected local communities;	All parties to armed conflict Secretary-General
4. <i>Notes</i> that rape and other forms of sexual violence can constitute a war crime, a crime against humanity, or a constitutive act with respect to genocide, <i>stresses the need for</i> the exclusion of sexual violence crimes from amnesty provisions in the context of conflict resolution processes, and <i>calls upon</i> Member States to comply with their obligations for prosecuting persons responsible for such acts, to ensure that all victims of sexual violence, particularly women and girls, have equal protection under the law and equal access to justice, and <i>stresses</i> the importance of ending impunity for such acts as part of a comprehensive approach to seeking sustainable peace, justice, truth and national reconciliation;	Parties to conflict resolution processes Member states
5. Affirms its intention, when establishing and renewing state-specific sanctions regimes, to take into consideration the appropriateness of targeted and graduated measures against parties to situations of armed conflict who commit rape and other forms of sexual violence against women and girls in situations of armed conflict;	Security Council
6. <i>Requests</i> the Secretary-General, in consultation with the Security Council, the Special Committee on Peacekeeping Operations and its Working Group and relevant States, as appropriate, to develop and implement appropriate training programs for all peacekeeping and humanitarian personnel deployed by the United Nations in the context of missions as mandated by the Council to help them better prevent, recognize and respond to sexual violence and other forms of violence against civilians;	Secretary-General



Operative Paragraph	Addressed to
7. Requests the Secretary-General to continue and strengthen efforts to implement the policy of zero tolerance of sexual exploitation and abuse in United Nations peacekeeping operations; and <i>urges</i> troop and police contributing countries to take appropriate preventive action, including pre-deployment and in-theater awareness training, and other action to ensure full accountability in cases of such conduct involving their personnel;	Secretary-General Troop and police contributing countries
8. Encourages troop and police contributing countries, in consultation with the Secretary-General, to consider steps they could take to heighten awareness and the responsiveness of their personnel participating in UN peacekeeping operations to protect civilians, including women and children, and prevent sexual violence against women and girls in conflict and post-conflict situations, including wherever possible the deployment of a higher percentage of women peacekeepers or police;	Troop and police contributing countries
9. <i>Requests</i> the Secretary-General to develop effective guidelines and strategies to enhance the ability of relevant UN peacekeeping operations, consistent with their mandates, to protect civilians, including women and girls, from all forms of sexual violence and to systematically include in his written reports to the Council on conflict situations his observations concerning the protection of women and girls and recommendations in this regard;	Secretary-General
10. <i>Requests</i> the Secretary-General and relevant United Nations agencies, inter alia, through consultation with women and women-led organizations as appropriate, to develop effective mechanisms for providing protection from violence, including in particular sexual violence, to women and girls in and around UN managed refugee and internally displaced persons camps, as well as in all disarmament, demobilization, and reintegration processes, and in justice and security sector reform efforts assisted by the United Nations;	Secretary-General and rele- vant UN agencies
11. Stresses the important role the Peacebuilding Commission can play by including in its advice and recommendations for post-conflict peacebuilding strategies, where appropriate, ways to address sexual violence committed during and in the aftermath of armed conflict, and in ensuring consultation and effective representation of women's civil society in its country-specific configurations, as part of its wider approach to gender issues;	(indirectly) Peacebuilding Commission
12. Urges the Secretary-General and his Special Envoys to invite women to participate in discussions pertinent to the prevention and resolution of conflict, the maintenance of peace and security, and post-conflict peacebuilding, and encourages all parties to such talks to facilitate the equal and full participation of women at all decision-making levels;	Secretary-General and his special envoys All parties to such talks
13. Urges all parties concerned, including Member States, United Nations entities and financial institutions, to support the development and strengthening of the capacities of national institutions, in particular of judicial and health systems, and of local civil society networks in order to provide sustainable assistance to victims of sexual violence in armed conflict and post-conflict situations;	All parties concerned, including member states, UN entities and financial institutions
14. Urges appropriate regional and sub-regional bodies in particular to consider developing and implementing policies, activities, and advocacy for the benefit of women and girls affected by sexual violence in armed conflict;	Appropriate regional and sub-regional bodies
15. <i>Also requests</i> the Secretary-General to submit a report to the Council by 30 June 2009 on the implementation of this resolution in the context of situations which are on the agenda of the Council, utilizing information from available United Nations sources, including country teams, peacekeeping operations, and other United Nations personnel, which would include, inter alia, information on situations of armed conflict in which sexual violence has been widely or systematically employed against civilians; analysis of the prevalence and trends of sexual violence in situations of armed conflict; proposals for strategies to minimize the susceptibility of women and girls to such violence; benchmarks for measuring progress in preventing and addressing sexual violence; appropriate input from United Nations implementing partners in the field; information on his plans for facilitating the collection of timely, objective, accurate, and reliable information of UN activities on the ground and at Headquarters; and information on actions taken by parties to armed conflict to implement their responsibilities as described in this resolution, in particular by immediately and completely ceasing all acts of sexual violence and in taking appropriate measures to protect women and girls from all forms of sexual violence;	Secretary-General
16. Decides to remain actively seized of the matter.	Security Council

Annex II: Breakdown of Peace Operation Mandates into Components of Resolution 1325

Peace Operation	Increasing women's participation in decision-making and among UN staff in the field (1325-OP1, OP2, OP3, OP4; 1820-OP8, OP12)	Gender Perspective in Peacekeeping Operations (1325-OP5)	Capacity (1325-OP6, OP7; 1820-OP6)
MONUSCO (DRC) established in resolution 1925 (2010)			
UNIOGBIS (Guinea-Bissau) established in resolution 1876 (2009)		OP3 (i) Mainstreaming a gender perspective into peacebuilding, in line with Security Council resolutions 1325 (2000) and 1820 (2008).	
BINUCA (CAR) established in presidential statement S/ PRST/2009/5			
MINURCAT (CAR and Chad) established in resolution 1778 (2007)			
MINURCAT (CAR and Chad) renewed in reso- lution 1923 (2010)			



Negotiating and implementing peace agreements, including justice and SSR (1325- OP8; 1820)	Protection of Women and Girls from gender-based violence (1325-OP9, OP10, OP11; 1820, 1888)	Needs of women and girls in refugee camps, including in camp design and planning of DDR programmes (1325- OP12, OP13; 1820-OP10)	Specific mention of resolutions 1325, 1820, 1888 or 1889
	OP12(c) Support the efforts of the Government of the DRC to ensure the protection of civilians from violations of international humanitarian law and human rights abuses, including all forms of sexual and gender-based violence, to promote and pro- tect human rights and to fight impunity, including through the implementation of the Government's "zero-tolerance policy" with respect to discipline and human rights and humanitarian law violations, committed by elements of the security forces, in particular its newly integrated elements; OP18 Demands that all armed groups, in particular FDLR and the LRA, immediately cease all forms of vio- lence and human rights abuse against the civilian population in the DRC, in particular gender-based violence, including rape and other forms of sexual abuse; OP12(f) Implement the UN system-wide protection strategy in the DRC, operationalizing it with MONUSCO's protection strategy built on best practices and extend useful protection measures, such as the Joint Protection Teams, Community Liaison Interpreters, Joint Investigation Teams, Surveillance Centres and Women's Protection Advisers; OP14 Calls upon the Government of the DRC to build on its cooperation with the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on Children and Armed Conflicts and the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on Sexual Violence in Conflict.		Yes-preambular reference to 1325 and 1888
			Yes-operative reference to 1325 and 1820 (OP3)
			No
	2.(e) To contribute to the monitoring and to the promotion and protection of human rights, with particular attention to sexual and gender-based violence, and to recommend action to the compe- tent authorities, with a view to fighting impunity.	(Preambular) Emphasizing the need to preserve the civilian nature of the refugee camps and internally displaced persons sites and to prevent any recruitment of individuals, including children, which might be carried out in or around the camps by armed groups.	Yes-preambular reference to 1325
	OP2 Takes note of the commitment of the Govern- ment of Chad, as recalled in the letter of the Permanent Representative of Chad of 21 May 2010 (S/2010/250), to assume full responsibility for the	(Preambular) Emphasizing the need to respect international refugee law, preserve the civilian and humanitarian nature of the refugee camps and internally displaced persons sites and prevent any	Yes-preambular reference to 1325, 1820, 1888 and 1889

Peace Operation	Increasing women's participation in decision-making and among UN staff in the field (1325-OP1, OP2, OP3, OP4; 1820-OP8, OP12)	Gender Perspective in Peacekeeping Operations (1325-OP5)	Capacity (1325-OP6, OP7; 1820-OP6)
UNAMID (African Hybrid Operation for Darfur, Sudan) established in resolution 1769 (2007) mandate from paragraphs 54 and 55 of S/2007/307/Rev.1	55.c(vi) To assist in harnessing the capacity of women to participate in the peace process, including through political representation, economic empowerment and protection from gender-based violence.		
UNAMID (African Hybrid Operation for Darfur, Sudan) renewed in reso- lution 1935 (2010)	OP3 Reaffirms the importance of promoting the AU-UN led political process for Darfur, and in this regard, underlines the need for the systematic and sustained engagement of all Darfurian stakeholders, including newly elected officials, civil society, including women and women-led organisations, community groups and tribal leaders, in order to create a conducive environ- ment for peace and security through constructive and open dialogue.		
UNMIN (Nepal) established in resolution 1740 (2007)			



Negotiating and implementing peace agreements, including justice and SSR (1325- OP8; 1820)	Protection of Women and Girls from gender-based violence (1325-OP9, OP10, OP11; 1820, 1888)	Needs of women and girls in refugee camps, including in camp design and planning of DDR programmes (1325- OP12, OP13; 1820-OP10)	Specific mention of resolutions 1325, 1820, 1888 or 1889
	security and the protection of the civilian population in eastern Chad, including refugees, internally dis- placed persons, returnees and host communities, with a particular focus on women and children, UN and humanitarian personnel and assets, in accordance with its obligations under international humanitarian, human rights and refugee law; OP8(v) To contribute to the monitoring and to the promotion and protection of human rights in Chad, with particular attention to sexual and gender-based violence, and to recommend action to the competent authorities, with a view to fighting impunity.	recruitment of individuals, including women and children, which might be carried out in or around camps and sites by armed groups.	
	55.c(v) To ensure an adequate human rights and gender presence capacity, and expertise in Darfur in order to contribute to efforts to protect and promote human rights in Darfur, with particular attention to vulnerable groups.		Yes-preambular reference to 1325
	OP18 Demands that the parties to the conflict immediately take appropriate measures to protect civilians, including women and children, from all forms of sexual violence, in line with resolution 1820 (2008); and requests UNAMID to report on the implementation of its comprehensive strategy for providing protection to women and children from sexual violence and gender based violence, as well as to assess progress towards the elimina- tion of sexual and gender-based violence, requests the Secretary-General to ensure that the relevant provisions of resolutions 1325 (2000) and 1820 (2008), 1888 (2009) and 1889 (2009) are implemented by UNAMID and to include informa- tion on this in his reporting to the Council.		Yes-both operative and preambular refer- ence to 1325, 1820, 1888 and 1889
(Preambular) Recognizing the need to pay special attention to the needs of women, children and traditionally marginalized groups in the peace process, as mentioned in the CPA.			No

Peace Operation	Increasing women's participation in decision-making and among UN staff in the field (1325-OP1, OP2, OP3, OP4; 1820-OP8, OP12)	Gender Perspective in Peacekeeping Operations (1325-OP5)	Capacity (1325-OP6, OP7; 1820-OP6)
UNMIN (Nepal) renewed in reso- lution 1921 (2010)			
UNMIT (Timor-Leste) established in resolution 1704 (2006)	OP4(k) To mainstream gender perspectives and those of children and youth throughout the Mission's policies, programmes and activities, and, work- ing together with UN agencies, funds and programmes, support the develop- ment of a national strategy to promote gender equality and empowerment of women.		
UNMIT (Timor-Leste) renewed in reso- lution 1912 (2010)	(Preambular) welcoming the coopera- tion of UNMIT with other UN partners to support the Government's effort to develop a national gender equality policy and strategy.	OP15 Requests UNMIT to fully take into account gender considerations as set out in Security Council resolutions 1325, 1820, 1888 and 1889 as a cross- cutting issue throughout its mandate, stressing the importance of strengthen- ing the responsiveness of the security sector to specific needs of women, and further requests the Secretary-General to include in his reporting to the Security Council progress on gender mainstreaming throughout UNMIT and all other aspects relating to the situation of women and girls, especially on the need to protect them from gender- based violence, detailing special measures to protect women and girls from such violence.	OP7 Requests UNMIT to continue to ensure, through the presence of UNMIT police component and the provision of support to the PNTL, the maintenance of public security in Timor-Leste, which includes interim law enforcement and public security until the PNTL is fully reconstituted, and, working with part- ners, to intensify its efforts to assist with further training, mentoring, institutional development and strengthening of the PNTL with a view to enhancing its effec- tiveness, including with respect to community policing, and to address the special needs of women, and recog- nizes the importance of ensuring that UNMIT personnel have the appropriate profile and specialized skill sets for these tasks, and the potential need for civilian experts for the above purpose;
UNIOSIL (Sierra Leone) established in resolution 1620 (2005) and replaced by UNIPSIL in 2008			



Negotiating and implementing peace agreements, including justice and SSR (1325- OP8; 1820)	Protection of Women and Girls from gender-based violence (1325-OP9, OP10, OP11; 1820, 1888)	Needs of women and girls in refugee camps, including in camp design and planning of DDR programmes (1325- OP12, OP13; 1820-OP10)	Specific mention of resolutions 1325, 1820, 1888 or 1889
(Preambular) Recognizing the need to pay special attention to the needs and the role of women, children and traditionally marginalized groups in the peace process, as mentioned in the CPA and resolution 1325 (2000).			Yes-preambular reference to 1325 in context of implementation of CPA
	OP4(g) To assist in further strengthening the national institutional and societal capacity and mechanisms for the monitoring, promoting and protecting of human rights and for promoting justice and reconciliation, including for women and children, and to observe and report on the human rights situation.	OP4(h) To facilitate the provision of relief and recovery assistance and access to the Timorese people in need, with a particular focus on the segment of society in the most vulnerable situa- tion, including internally displaced and women and children.	Yes-preambular reference to 1325
	See OP15		Yes-both operative and preambular refer- ences to 1325, 1820, 1888 and 1889
	1. (a) to assist the Government of Sierra Leone in: (viii) developing initiatives for the protection and well-being of youth, women and children;		No

Peace Operation	Increasing women's participation in decision-making and among UN staff in the field (1325-OP1, OP2, OP3, OP4; 1820-OP8, OP12)	Gender Perspective in Peacekeeping Operations (1325-OP5)	Capacity (1325-OP6, OP7; 1820-OP6)
UNIPSIL (Sierra Leone) established in resolution 1829 (2008)	conflicts and in peacebuilding, as recogr (2008), underlines that a gender perspec	OP8 Emphasizes the important role of women in the prevention and resolution of conflicts and in peacebuilding, as recognized in resolutions 1325 (2000) and 1820 (2008), underlines that a gender perspective should be taken into account in implementing all aspects of the mandate of UNIPSIL, and encourages UNIPSIL to work with the Government of Sierra Leope in this record.	
UNIPSIL (Sierra Leone) renewed in resolution 1886 (2009)	OP7 Emphasizes the important role of we of conflicts and in peacebuilding, as reco underlines that a gender perspective sho ing all aspects of the mandate of UNIPSII the Government of Sierra Leone in this re	ognized in resolutions 1325 and 1820, buld be taken into account in implement- L, and encourages UNIPSIL to work with	
UNMIS (Sudan) established in resolution 1590 (2005)			OP15 Reaffirms the importance of appropriate expertise on issues relating to gender in peacekeeping operations and post-conflict peacebuilding in accordance with resolution 1325, recalls the need to address violence against women and girls as a tool of warfare, and encourages UNMIS as well as the Sudanese parties to actively address these issues.
UNMIS (Sudan) renewed in reso- lution 1919 (2010)			
ONUB (Burundi) established in resolution 1545 (2004) and replaced by BINUB in 2006		OP8 Requests the Secretary-General, through his Special Representative for Burundi, to conduct all the activities of the UN system in Burundi and to facilitate the coordination with other national, regional and international actors, in particular the AU, of activities in support of the transition process, while ensuring that ONUB's personnel give special attention to issues related to gender equality, as well as to the specific needs of children.	
BINUB (Burundi) established in resolution 1719 (2006)	OP3 Urges BINUB to take account of the ations as set out in resolution 1325 (2000 outlined in paragraph 2 above, including international women's group, and reques appropriate, to include in his reporting to mainstreaming throughout the Integrated the situation of women and girls, especia from gender-based violence.	as cross-cutting issues in all the areas through consultation with local and sts the Secretary-General, where the Security Council progress on gender d Office and all other aspects relating to	



Negotiating and implementing peace agreements, including justice and SSR (1325- OP8; 1820)	Protection of Women and Girls from gender-based violence (1325-OP9, OP10, OP11; 1820, 1888)	Needs of women and girls in refugee camps, including in camp design and planning of DDR programmes (1325- OP12, OP13; 1820-OP10)	Specific mention of resolutions 1325, 1820, 1888 or 1889
			Yes-operative reference to 1325 and 1820 (OP8)
			Yes-operative reference to 1325 and 1820 (OP7)
OP4(a)(vi) To assist the parties to the CPA, in addressing the need for a national inclusive approach, includ- ing the role of women, towards reconciliation and peacebuilding.	OP4(d) To contribute towards international efforts to protect and promote human rights in Sudan, as well as to coordinate international efforts towards the protection of civilians with particular attention to vulnerable groups including internally displaced persons, returning refugees, and women and children, within UNMIS's capabilities and in close cooperation with other UN agencies, related organisations, and NGOs.	OP4(a)(iv) To assist in the establishment of the DDR programme as called for in the CPA, with par- ticular attention to the special needs of women and child combatants, and its implementation through voluntary disarmament and weapons collection and destruction.	Yes-preambular reference to 1325
	(Preambular) Condemning all acts and forms of violence perpetrated by any party that prevent or hinder peace and stability in Sudan and the region, deploring their effects on the civilian population, in particular on women and children, and calling for compliance by all parties with their obligations under international humanitarian and human rights law.		Yes-preambular reference to 1325, 1820, 1888 and 1889
	(Preambular) Condemning all acts of violence, as well as human rights and international humani- tarian law violations, and particularly concerned by the increasing incidents of rapes, including mass rapes; OP6 Decides that ONUB shall provide advice and assistanceto the transitional Government and authorities to contribute to their efforts: to ensure, in close liaison with the Office of the High Commis- sioner for Human Rights, the promotion and protection of human rights, with particular atten- tion to women, children and vulnerable persons, and investigate human rights violations to put an end to impunity.	OP7 Decides further that ONUB shall cooperate with the Government and authorities of Burundi, as well as their international partners, to ensure the coherence of their work, in assistance to the Government and authorities of Burundi in: carrying out the national programme of DDR of combatants and members of their families, including those coming from the territory of the DRC, in liaison with the Government of this country and MONUC, and with particular attention to the specific needs of women and children.	Yes-preambular reference to 1325 in context of tragic humanitar- ian situation
	OP2(i) Promotion and protection of human rights, including by building national institutional capacity in that area, particularly with regard to the rights of women, children and other vulnerable groups, by assisting with the design and implementation of a national human rights action plan including the establishment of an independent national human rights commission.		Yes-operative reference (OP3)

Peace Operation	Increasing women's participation in decision-making and among UN staff in the field (1325-OP1, OP2, OP3, OP4; 1820-OP8, OP12)	Gender Perspective in Peacekeeping Operations (1325-OP5)	Capacity (1325-OP6, OP7; 1820-OP6)
BINUB (Burundi) renewed in resolution 1902 (2009)	OP5 Decides that BINUB, working in close cooperation with the Government of Burundi, shall pay particular attention to supporting the electoral process, democratic governance, the consolidation of peace, sustainable reintegration and gender issues.		
MINUSTAH (Haiti) established in resolution 1542 (2004)	OP7II(c) to assist the Transitional Government in its efforts to organise, monitor, and carry out free and fair municipal, parliamentary and presiden- tial elections at the earliest possible date, in particular through the provision of technical, logistical, and administra- tive assistance and continued security, with appropriate support to an electoral process with voter participation that is representative of the national demographics, including women.		OP7I(b) to assist the Transitional Government in monitoring, restructur- ing and reforming the Haitian National Police, consistent with democratic policing standards, including through the vetting and certification of its per- sonnel, advising on its reorganization and training, including gender training, as well as monitoring/mentoring mem- bers of the Haitian National Police.
MINUSTAH (Haiti) renewed in reso- lution 1892 (2009)	(Preambular) Emphasizing the need for increased efforts to support the participation of women in the political process.		
UNOCI (Cote D'Ivoire) established in resolution 1528 (2004)		OP7 Requests the Secretary-General to give special attention to the gender and child-protection components within the staff of UNOCI.	



Negotiating and implementing peace agreements, including justice and SSR (1325- OP8; 1820)	Protection of Women and Girls from gender-based violence (1325-OP9, OP10, OP11; 1820, 1888)	Needs of women and girls in refugee camps, including in camp design and planning of DDR programmes (1325- OP12, OP13; 1820-OP10)	Specific mention of resolutions 1325, 1820, 1888 or 1889
OP14 Under- scores the importance of SSR and urges all international part- ners, together with BINUB, to support the Government of Burundi's efforts to professionalize and enhance the capacity of the national security services and the police, in particu- lar in the fields of training on human rights and sexual and gender-based violence.	OP12 Encourages the Government of Burundi to pursue its efforts regarding peace consolidation challenges, in particular democratic governance, security reforms, land tenure, justice and the pro- tection of human rights, with a special focus on women's and children's rights; OP19 Expresses in particular its concern at the continuing sexual and gender-based violence, and urges the Govern- ment to continue to take the necessary steps to prevent further violations and to ensure that those responsible are brought to justice.	OP15 Encourages the Government of Burundi, in collaboration with all international partners, including BINUB, UNDP and the World Bank, to complete the disarmament and demobilization process and the strategy for the sustainable socio- economic reintegration of demobilized soldiers, former combatants, returning refugees, the dis- placed and other vulnerable groups affected by the conflict, particularly women and children, and urges international partners, particularly the Peacebuilding Commission, to stand ready to support this.	Yes-preambular reference to 1325, 1820, 1888 and 1889
	OP7III(a) to support the Transitional Government as well as Haitian human rights institutions and groups in their efforts to promote and protect human rights, particularly of women and children, in order to ensure individual accountability for human rights abuses and redress for victims.	7.I(c) to assist the Transitional Government, particularly the Haitian National Police, with com- prehensive and sustainable DDR programmes for all armed groups, including women and children associated with such groups, as well as weapons control and public security measures.	Yes-preambular reference to 1325
	OP19 Strongly condemns the grave violations against children affected by armed violence, as well as widespread rape and other sexual abuse of women and girls, and requests MINUSTAH and the UN country team in close cooperation with the Government, to continue to promote and protect the rights of women and children as set out in Security Council resolutions 1325, 1612, 1820, 1882, 1888 and 1889.		Yes-operative reference to 1325, 1820, 1888 and 1889 (OP19)
	OP6(n) To contribute to the promotion and protec- tion of human rights in Côte d'Ivoire with special attention to violence committed against women and girls, and to help investigate human rights violations with a view to help ending impunity.	OP6(e) To help the Government of National Recon- ciliation implement the national programme for the DDR of the combatants, with special attention to the specific needs of women and children; OP6(f) To coordinate closely with the UN missions in Sierra Leone and in Liberia in the implementation of a voluntary repatriation and resettlement pro- gramme for foreign ex-combatants, with special attention to the specific needs of women and	Yes-preambular reference to 1325

Peace Operation	Increasing women's participation in decision-making and among UN staff in the field (1325-OP1, OP2, OP3, OP4; 1820-OP8, OP12)	Gender Perspective in Peacekeeping Operations (1325-OP5)	Capacity (1325-OP6, OP7; 1820-OP6)
UNOCI (Cote d'Ivoire) renewed n resolution 1933 (2010)	OP6 Reiterates the importance of the inclusive participation of Ivorian civil society in the electoral process, and of ensuring the equal protection of and respect for the human rights of every Ivorian as they relate to the electoral system, and in particular respect for freedom of opinion and expression, and removing obstacles and challenges to women's participation and full involve- ment in public life.	OP22 Requests the Secretary-General to continue to include in his reports relevant information on progress on the promotion and protection of human rights and international humanitarian law as well as on the strengthening of the rule of law, including on ending impunity in Côte d'Ivoire, with special attention to violence committed against children and women, and on progress on gender mainstreaming throughout UNOCI and all other aspects relating to the situation of women and girls, especially in relation to the need to protect them from sexual and gender- based violence and consistent with its resolutions 1325, 1612, 1820, 1882, 1888 and 1889.	
UNMIL (Liberia) established in resolution 1509 (2003)		OP11 Reaffirms the importance of a gender perspective in peacekeeping operations and post-conflict peace- building in accordance with resolution 1325, recalls the need to address vio- lence against women and girls as a tool of warfare, and encourages UNMIL, as well as the Liberian parties to actively address these issues.	



Negotiating and implementing peace agreements, including justice and SSR (1325- OP8; 1820)	Protection of Women and Girls from gender-based violence (1325-OP9, OP10, OP11; 1820, 1888)	Needs of women and girls in refugee camps, including in camp design and planning of DDR programmes (1325- OP12, OP13; 1820-OP10)	Specific mention of resolutions 1325, 1820, 1888 or 1889
		children, in support of the efforts of the Govern- ment of National Reconciliation and in cooperation with the Governments concerned, relevant international financial institutions, international development organisations and donor nations.	
	OP13 Condemns the persistence of reported human rights violations, in particular sexual vio- lence, and calls upon all Ivorian parties, with the continued support of UNOCI, to ensure the protec- tion of civilians, especially women, children and displaced persons, to fully implement the recom- mendations of its working group on Children and Armed Conflict in Côte d'Ivoire (S/AC.51/2008/5), notably to adopt and implement a national action plan to address sexual violence, and to ensure that rule of law is strengthened and that all reported abuses are investigated and those responsible for such violations be brought to justice, calls further upon all parties to take appropriate measures to refrain from, prevent and protect civilians from all forms of sexual violence and reaffirms paragraphs 14 to 17 of its resolution 1880; OP16(e)(e) Assis- tance in the field of human rights. To contribute to the promotion and protection of human rights in Côte d'Ivoire, with special attention to violations committed against children and women and to all forms of sexual violence, to monitor, help investi- gate and report on human rights and humanitarian law violations with a view to ending impunity, including as called for in resolutions 1612 and 1882, to support the efforts all parties should take pursuant to paragraph 13 above, to bring to the attention of the Council all individuals identified as perpetrators of serious human rights violations and to keep the Committee established under resolution 1572 regularly informed of develop- ments in this regard.		Preambular and operative (OP22) reference to 1325, 1820, 1888 and 1889
	OP3(I) to contribute towards international efforts to protect and promote human rights in Liberia, with particular attention to vulnerable groups including refugees, returning refugees and internally dis- placed persons, women, children, and demobilized child soldiers, within UNMIL's capabil- ities and under acceptable security conditions, in close cooperation with other UN agencies, related organisations, governmental organisations, and NGOs; (<i>Preambular</i>) Deploring all violations of human rights, particularly atrocities against civilian populations, including widespread sexual violence against women and children.	OP3(f) To develop, as soon as possible, preferably within 30 days of the adoption of this resolution, in cooperation with the JMC, relevant international financial institutions, international development organisations, and donor nations, an action plan for the overall implementation of a DDRR pro- gramme for all armed parties; with particular attention to the special needs of child combatants and women; and addressing the inclusion of non-Liberian combatants.	Yes-operative reference to 1325 (OP11)

Peace Operation	Increasing women's participation in decision-making and among UN staff in the field (1325-OP1, OP2, OP3, OP4; 1820-OP8, OP12)	Gender Perspective in Peacekeeping Operations (1325-OP5)	Capacity (1325-OP6, OP7; 1820-OP6)
UNMIL (Liberia) renewed in resolution 1885 (2009)			
MINUCI (Cote D'Ivoire) established in resolution 1479 (2003)			OP5 Requests that in addition to the recommendations made in the Secre- tary-General's report regarding the organization of MINUCI, in particular its reference to the human rights compo- nents of the mission, special attention be given to the gender component within the staff of MINUCI and to the situation of women and girls, consistent with resolution 1325.
UNAMI (Iraq) established in resolution 1500 (2003) from 1483 (2003)	(Preambular) Encouraging efforts by the people of Iraq to form a representa- tive government based on the rule of law that affords equal rights and justice to all Iraqi citizens without regard to ethnicity, religion, or gender, and, in this connection, recalls resolution 1325.		
UNAMI (Iraq) renewed in reso- lution 1936 (2010)	(Preambular) Reaffirming the impor- tance of the UN, in particular UNAMI, in advising, supporting and assisting the Iraqi people and Government to strengthen democratic institutions, advance inclusive political dialogue and national reconciliation, facilitate regional dialogue, aid vulnerable groups including refugees and inter- nally displaced persons, strengthen gender equality, promote the protection of human rights, and promote judicial and legal reform, and emphasising the importance of the UN, in particular UNAMI, prioritising advice, support, and assistance to the Iraqi people and Government to achieve these goals.		



Negotiating and implementing peace agreements, including justice and SSR (1325- OP8; 1820)	Protection of Women and Girls from gender-based violence (1325-OP9, OP10, OP11; 1820, 1888)	Needs of women and girls in refugee camps, including in camp design and planning of DDR programmes (1325- OP12, OP13; 1820-OP10)	Specific mention of resolutions 1325, 1820, 1888 or 1889
	(Preambular) Recalling its resolutions 1325 and 1820 on women, peace, and security and con- demning any sexual violence, further welcoming the continuing efforts of UNMIL, in close coopera- tion with the Government of Liberia, to promote and protect the rights of civilians, in particular women and children, noting with appreciation that the Government's strategy for implementation of resolution 1325 is in place, recognising the challenges that remain in addressing the serious issues of gender-based violence and sexual exploitation and abuse, and calling on member states to increase support to the government in its efforts.		Yes-preambular reference to 1325 and 1820
			Yes-operative reference to 1325 (OP5)
			Yes-preambular reference to 1325 in context of participation in government
	(Preambular) Underscoring the sovereignty of the Government of Iraq, reaffirming that all parties should continue to take all feasible steps and develop modalities to ensure the protection of affected civilians, including children, women and members of religious and ethnic minority groups, and should create conditions conducive to the vol- untary, safe, dignified, and sustainable return of refugees and IDP, welcoming commitments of the Government of Iraq for the relief of IDPs, encourag- ing continued efforts for IDP and refugees, and noting the important role of the UNHCR, based on its mandate, in providing advice and support to the Government of Iraq, in coordination with UNAMI.		No

Peace Operation	Increasing women's participation in decision-making and among UN staff in the field (1325-OP1, OP2, OP3, OP4; 1820-OP8, OP12)	Gender Perspective in Peacekeeping Operations (1325-OP5)	Capacity (1325-OP6, OP7; 1820-OP6)
UNIFIL (Southern Lebanon) first established in resolution 425 (1978), substan- tially expanded upon in resolu- tion 1701 (2006)			
UNIFIL (Southern Lebanon) renewed resolu- tion 1937 (2010)			
UNFICYP (Cyprus) renewed 1930 (2010) - established prior to resolution 1325			
UNDOF (Golan Heights) renewed in resolution 1934 (2010) and estab- lished prior to resolution 1325			
UNAMA (Afghanistan) established in resolution 1401 (2002)			
UNAMA (Afghanistan) renewed in reso- lution 1917 (2010)	OP33 Encourages all Afghan institu- tions, including the executive and legislative branches, to work in a spirit of cooperation, calls on the Afghan Government to pursue continued legislative and public administration reform in order to ensure good gover- nance, with full representation of all Afghan women and men, and account- ability at both national and subnational levels, and stresses the need for further international efforts to provide technical assistance in this area; OP35 Supports efforts to accelerate implementation of the National Action Plan for Women in Afghanistan, welcomes the Afghan Governments commitment to strengthen the participation of women in all Afghan governance institutions, including elected and appointed bodies and the civil service, and requests the Secretary-General to continue to include in its reports to the Security Council relevant information on the		



Negotiating and implementing peace agreements, including justice and SSR (1325- OP8; 1820)	Protection of Women and Girls from gender-based violence (1325-OP9, OP10, OP11; 1820, 1888)	Needs of women and girls in refugee camps, including in camp design and planning of DDR programmes (1325- OP12, OP13; 1820-OP10)	Specific mention of resolutions 1325, 1820, 1888 or 1889
			No
OP23 Reiterates the importance of increasing, in a comprehensive framework, the functionality, professionalism and accountabil- ity of the Afghan security sector through appropri- ate vetting procedures, train- ing, mentoring, equipping and empowerment efforts, for both women and men, in order to accel- erate progress towards the goal of self-sufficient and ethnically balanced Afghan	OP6 Also reaffirms that UNAMA and the Special Representative will continue to lead international civilian efforts in the following priority areas: (d) continue, with the support of the OHCHR, to coop- erate with the Afghan Independent Human Rights Commission (AIHRC), to cooperate also with rele- vant international and local NGOs and the Government of Afghanistan, to monitor the situa- tion of civilians, to coordinate efforts to ensure their protection, to promote accountability, and to assist in the full implementation of the fundamental freedoms and human rights provisions of the Afghan Constitution and international treaties to which Afghanistan is a State party, in particular those regarding the full enjoyment by women of their human rights; OP35. Recognises that despite progress achieved on gender equality, enhanced efforts are necessary to secure the rights of women and girls, strongly condemns continuing forms of discrimination and violence against women and girls, in particular violence aimed at preventing girls from attending schools, stresses the importance of implementing Security Council resolutions 1325, 1820, 1888 and 1889.		Yes-preambular and operative reference to 1325, 1820, 1888 and 1889 (see OP35)

Peace Operation	Increasing women's participation in decision-making and among UN staff in the field (1325-OP1, OP2, OP3, OP4; 1820-OP8, OP12)	Gender Perspective in Peacekeeping Operations (1325-OP5)	Capacity (1325-OP6, OP7; 1820-OP6)
	process of integration of women into the political, economic and social life of Afghanistan.		
MINURSO (Western Sahara) renewed in reso- lution 1920 (2010) - established prior to resolution 1325			



Negotiating and implementing peace agreements, including justice and SSR (1325- OP8; 1820)	Protection of Women and Girls from gender-based violence (1325-OP9, OP10, OP11; 1820, 1888)	Needs of women and girls in refugee camps, including in camp design and planning of DDR programmes (1325- OP12, OP13; 1820-OP10)	Specific mention of resolutions 1325, 1820, 1888 or 1889
security forces providing security and ensuring the rule of law throughout the country.			
			No

SECURITY COUNCIL REPORT STAFF Colin Keating, Executive Director Joanna Weschler, Deputy Executive Director and Director of Research Amanda Roberts, Coordinating Editor & Research Analyst Shamala Kandiah, Senior Research Analyst Robert Afriyie, Research Analyst Nina Pregellio, Research Analyst Troy Prince, Research Analyst Astrid Forberg Ryan, Research Analyst Tim Caughley, Research Consultant Clare Gatehouse, Research Consultant Dahlia Morched, Research Consultant Eran Sthoeger, Research Consultant Robbin VanNewkirk, Publications Coordinator Jamaal A. Young, Programme Assistant

Security Council Report is published with the support of the Governments of Canada, Denmark, Liechtenstein, Norway, Singapore and Switzerland, The Rockefeller Foundation, the John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation, the William and Flora Hewlett Foundation and the David and Lucile Packard Foundation. It is incorporated as a not for profit Organisation and operates in affiliation with the School of International and Public Affairs at Columbia University in New York.

The material in this publication is subject to copyright ownership. Material in this publication may be freely used as in the public domain. You are free to copy, distribute, or make derivative works of the work under the following conditions: you must attribute the work to Security Council Report, Inc.; you may not use this work for commercial purposes; if you alter, transform, or build upon this work, you may distribute the resulting work only under a license identical to this one.